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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 335
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http://www.upbest.com
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Hong Kong
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Ugland House
Grand Cayman
KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

Cayman Islands Principal Registrar
SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
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24 Shedden Road
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Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Registrar
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1 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BB ®m E
(In HK$'000) (BB FTBENMN) 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
OPERATING RESULT AR
Revenue U 25 317,515 443,398 259,467 83,927 66,761
Net profit attributable to equity RAARERETEA
holders of the Company JE A6 %5 F 225,867 518,309 315407 164,910 167,612
Earnings per share - Basic B M — ER
HK cents A 8.4 19.3 11.8 6.2 6.3
FINANCIAL POSITION R
Total assets BERE 2,640,888 2,380,129 2,131,248 1,776,933 1,604,577
Net assets BEFE 2,370,912 2,188,579 1,763,058 1,496,535 1,379,764
Total liabilities BfERE 269,976 191,550 368,190 280,398 224,813
SEGMENT INFORMATION D E R
- REVENUE — iz
Broking & 9,359 15,186 10,974 10,274 11,049
Financing B 64,539 49,326 33,934 26,408 23,881
Corporate finance TERE 15,054 38 1,527 4,023 49
Assets management BEEE 4,293 2,726 10,900 1,739 1,621
Property investment MEKE 26,764 28,848 19,348 18,415 17,192
Precious metal trading E+EET 197,506 347,274 182,784 23,068 12,969
Investment holding BRI - - - - -
— OPERATING RESULTS - EEXA
Broking &a (328) 3,870 849 (854) (2,232)
Financing Bt 7% 55,317 42,937 27,848 19,726 20,280
Corporate finance TEBE 11,421 31 1,397 3,954 48
Assets management EEEE 3,214 1,739 9,881 855 892
Property investment MERE 21,896 23,118 14,939 14,130 12,083
Precious metal trading E¢EBEE (930) (902) (456) (1,131) (683)
Investment holding HEER - - - - -

UPBEST GRO LIM




CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

T F % &

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”), | am very pleased to share
with you an encouraging business performance by the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31st March,
2017.

Financial and Business Review

For the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Group recorded a profit of
HK$226 million which was around 56% less than the preceding financial
year. This was mainly due to gain on disposal of the Group investments
in the preceding year amounting to HK$464 million. If excluding
this gain which is non-recurring in nature, last year’s profit was
approximately HK$54.6 million, which means current year’s result has a
significant increase. The main contributor to this encouraging result was
the Financing segment which gross profit amounted to HK$55.3 million.
Furthermore, our Corporate Finance and Asset Management segments
also recorded a very significant increase in both revenue and profit
contribution.

Market Review
Throughout the financial year under review, the global financial market
encountered volatility due to various political events.

In June, the unexpected referendum result in United Kingdom which led
to Brexit, United Kingdom going to withdraw from the European Union.
On 29th March, 2017, Prime Minister Theresa May wrote to European
Council to kick off the procedure and set the deadline to leave by March
2019.

On the date of the announcement of Brexit, Hang Seng Index dropped
over 600 points at market close with the worst moment, a 1,200 points
shrunk.

During the year under review, Hong Kong market experienced vast
volatility of 5,000 points for the Hang Seng Index. While the Hang Seng
Index was 24,111 as at 31st March, 2017, an increase of 16% during
the financial year, the trading volume decreased significantly. For
the period from April 2016 to March 2017, the average daily turnover
amounted to HK$47 billion, a 31% decrease when compared with last
year corresponding period of HK$67 billion.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Brokerage

The Brokerage and Financing segments used to be one of the main
revenue and profit contributor of the Group in the past. However, we
face a tough competition in the current financial year on top of a general
decrease in market turnover of the securities market in Hong Kong, this
segment incurred an operating loss of HK$328,000 when comparing
with a profit of HK$3.87 million in preceding financial year. Revenue
from securities and futures broking decreased from HK$13.8 million to
HK$8.4 million, a 39% decrease which is in line with the decrease in the
turnover of the Hong Kong securities market.

Financing

This segment revenue of HK$64.5 million and gross profit of HK$55.3
million both recorded a significant increase when compared with
preceding financial year.

This segment significant results are mainly derived from a substantial
increase in our money lending business by utilizing our rich cash
reserves. Due to the volatile securities market, we maintain a cautious
approach in extending loans to margin clients’ revenue from this
sub-sector was only marginally more than previous year.

This segment’s result for the current financial year amounted to HK$55.3
million which is 29% higher than preceding year’s HK$42.9 million.

Corporate Finance and Asset Management

For the current financial year, the corporate finance segment’s revenue
significantly increased to over HK$15 million when comparing to only
HK$0.04 million in previous year. The tremendous increase was due to
our existing implementation as global co-ordinator, lead manager and
book runner for 5 initial public offers plus various shares placements
during the current financial year.

Due to the significant increase in revenue in the corporate finance
segment, it contributed HK$11.4 million profit in the current financial
year.

For the asset management segment, the revenue of HK$4.3 million in
current financial year, an over 50% increase, mainly due to HK$1.8
million performance fee receivable according to the investment advisor
agreement due to a positive return on the investment portfolio managed
by our Group.

The result of asset management segment in current year contributed

profit amounted to HK$3.2 million is nearly double the result of HK$1.8
million in preceding financial year.
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Precious Metal Trading

For the current financial year, this segment revenue was HK$197 million,
a 43% decrease when comparing with preceding financial year. The
segment loss of HK$0.9 million is same as preceding year.

Property Investment

The rental income in the current financial year of HK$24.6 million is also
similar to preceding year. This segment generated a profit of HK$21.9
million which is slightly less than preceding year's HK$23.1 million.

Property investment is another sector of strong driving force of our
Group in recent years. Our strong property investment segment is going
to provide stable rental income to our Group with a potential of capital
appreciation.

Administration Performance

The administrative and operating expenses for the current financial year
amounted to HK$30.3 million, an increase of 10% when compares with
preceding year. There is an increase of the administrative expenses to
revenue ratio of 9.6% when comparing to 6.2% in 2016.

Prospects
2017/18 will be a year full of challenges and opportunities.

With increase of turnover of the securities market in Hong Kong since
April 2017, we expect increase in both brokerage income and interest
from margin financing.

Rise in the share prices in general will also have a positive effect on
our asset management segment, management and performance fee
revenue.

The Federal Reserve stated that if the economy performs as expected,
it might raise short-term interest rates in the near future plus slowly
shrinking its US$45 trillion asset holdings starting from 2017. Interest
rates upswing will provide high interest income in our financing
business. We expect that when Hong Kong follows the footpath of the
U.S. to increase the rate, our economy and stock market would not be
negatively affected since we are still in a low interest rate era.

However, Brexit leads to uncertainties. The referendum results showed
that majority of the Scottish people actually voted to remain. Scotland
may hold another independence referendum. Brexit may also mean a
referendum in Northern Ireland.
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Another added uncertainty is the Hung Parliament in United Kingdom
as Conservative Party lost its majority. This means they may not be
able to stand firm in the strategy of hard negotiation with the EU, not to
mention Prime Minister Theresa May will lose her leadership. The start of
negotiation of the Brexit deal on 19th June, 2017 along the process will
lead to market volatilities.

Terrorist attacks in United Kingdom and other major economies add
uncertainties to the investment market.

In a nutshell, looking forward to cope with various uncertainties, we will
regularly review and adjust our business strategies cautiously. With
abundant cash available, we will strive to look for opportunities to further
enhance our performance. We look forward to an orderly and steady
growth in the coming future.

Appreciation

The Board would like to thank the management of the Group and all
staff for their hard work and dedication, as well as shareholders of the
Company, the Group’s business partners and associates, bankers and
auditors for their supports to the Group.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. IP Man Tin, David
Chairman and
Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 23rd June, 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E E & WK

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31st March, 2017, the Group had bank balance and cash of
approximately HK$361.9 million (2016: HK$388.6 million) of which
approximately HK$10.0 million (2016: HK$10.0 million) were pledged
to bank for facilities granted to the Group. The Company has given
guarantees to the extent of HK$172.0 million (2016: HK$172.0 million)
to secure the facilities granted to subsidiaries. As at 31st March, 2017
the Group had available aggregate banking facilities of approximately
HK$188.0 million (2016: HK$188.0 million) of which HK$162.0 million
(2016: HK$187.0 million) was not utilized.

As at 31st March, 2017, the Group’s borrowings increased from HK$2.7
million as at 31st March, 2016 to HK$28.1 million.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31st March, 2017, the amount of total borrowings was
approximately HK$28.1 million (2016: HK$2.7 million). The gearing
being equal to approximately 1.2% (2016: 0.1%) of the net assets of
approximately HK$2,370.9 million (2016: HK$2,188.6 million).

Capital Structure

During the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Company issued
1,341,158,379 bonus shares on the basis of one share for every one
share held. Bonus shares were issued on 19th September, 2016.

As at 31st March, 2017, the total equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to HK$2,371.4 million (2016: HK$2,189.1 million).
The Group’s consolidated net assets per share as at the reporting date
was HK$0.88 (2016: HK$0.82).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group operates in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC and majority
of transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), United
State dollars (“US$”) and Macau Pataca. Foreign exchange risk arises
from commercial transactions, recognized assets and liabilities, which
are denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the

Group and the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

T E B & @ R

During the year, the Group mainly uses Hong Kong dollars,
Macau Pataca and United States dollars to carry out its business
transactions. The Board considers the foreign currency exposure is

insignificant.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31st March, 2017, the Group has pledged certain of its investment
properties with aggregate carrying value of HK$1,185.0 million (2016:
HK$1,066.0 million) to a bank to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at year ended 31st March, 2017, the Group has provided guarantee
to certain financial institutions as follows:

Z

RER - ARAEETZNET  BABKRET
ETHERS  ALFERS ubﬁﬁﬁ%xﬁlﬁﬂ
Rt REKX o

SEEEMT
E’\\—EE—JCE:H:Jr—EI'ZNEIE,@H%
B 1 4 {8 A1,185,000,000/8 7T (Z T — A~ F
1,066,000,000/ 7T) M5 FIREMEERG
BT UBBRTAEER 2 —RBTRE -

HAEE
RZF—tHF-A=1+—-RFEHKER £~5H
EREERTHBREDT

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZT—RF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Guarantees given by the Company and AREIREMBE AR AE L
its subsidiaries to financial institutions in B=Fla T BEBER
respect of facilities granted to PREEE
independent third parties 4,000 4,000
Guarantees given by the Company to KREREMNBARGT
financial institutions in respect of B TS MR R DAER %%
facilities granted to subsidiaries 172,000 172,000

At the end of the reporting period, the Directors do not consider it
probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any of the
guarantees.

Of the above guarantees, the amount utilised by the subsidiaries at 31st

March, 2017 is HK$26 million (2016: HK$1 million).

The Company has not recognised any deferred income in respect of
these guarantees as its fair value cannot be reliably measured and its
transaction price was HK$ Nil (2016: HK$ Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E E & WK

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31st March, 2017, the Group had 42 staff including those staff
of Macau (2016: 44). For the year ended 31st March, 2017, the staff
costs of the Group amounted to approximately HK$14.5 million (2016:
HK$14.3 million), 4.6% and 3.2% of the Group’s revenue in FY2017 and
FY2016 respectively.

The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training in order
to enhance their technical skills and update their industry knowledge
with regards to laws and regulations.

The Group remunerates its employees mainly based on industry
practices, market remuneration and individual’s performance and
experience. On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus may be
granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performance as well
as individual’s performance.

SHARE OPTION
The Company does not have share option scheme.

CREDIT CONTROL

The Group has been practicing tight credit control policy. A credit
committee composed of two executive Directors and other members
is responsible for overseeing the granting of credit facilities. Daily
operation of money lending will be guided by the stringent procedures
as prescribed by the internal control manual.

COMPLIANCE AND RISK STEERING COMMITTEE AND
STRATEGY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Group has established a Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
and a Strategy Management Committee which aims to maintain a good
corporate governance environment for the Group. The Board believed
that this will help to enhance the Group’s expanding process in the
future.

DIVIDEND

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”), the Board has
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.8 cents per
ordinary share (2016: HK1.5 cents per ordinary share) in respect of
the year ended 31st March, 2017 to all shareholders of the Company
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on 8th
September, 2017. If approved, the payment of the final dividend will be
made on or about 18th September, 2017,
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

T E B & @ R

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be convened and held on Friday, 25th August, 2017.
Notice of the AGM will be published on the websites of the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
and sent to the shareholders of the Company together with the
Company’s 2017 Annual Report in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR THE AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
21st August, 2017 to Friday, 25th August, 2017, both days inclusive,
during which period no share transfers can be registered. In order to
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 18th August, 2017.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR FINAL DIVIDEND
The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 6th September, 2017 to Friday, 8th September, 2017,
both dates inclusive, during which period no share transfers can
be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Standard Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on (Tuesday),
5th September, 2017.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ZEE R 5 R EEE EH

Non-Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. IP Man Tin, David (“Mr. Ip”), aged 71, is the chairman and
non-executive Director of the Company. He holds a Bachelor of Arts
Degree and Master’s Degree in Public Administration. Mr. Ip is a
Chartered Marketer and a Certified Management Consultant. He has
more than 24 years of public administration and more than 14 years of
public company management experience in Hong Kong and Britain. He
has extensive consultancy experience across industry sectors. Mr. IP
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of New Island
Printing Holdings Limited (Stock code: 0377) on 5th November, 2010
and resigned on 25th September, 2014. Save as disclosed above,
Mr. Ip does not hold directorship in any other listed public companies
in Hong Kong or overseas during the past three years and he does not
hold any other position with the Company and other members of the
Group.

Non-Executive Director

Dr. SZE Ping Fat (“Dr. Sze"), aged 59, is a non-executive Director of
the Company. Dr. Sze is an Australian legal practitioner having obtained
the Doctorate in Juridical Science from Deakin Law School in Melbourne
as well as Master’'s degrees in law from Trinity College Dublin, the
University of Leuven and the University of Sydney. He was appointed a
Justice of the Peace in and for New South Wales in 1996 and elected a
Member of the National Institute of Accountants (with a Master's degree
in Professional Accounting from the University of Southern Queensland)
in 1997, a Visiting Fellow of Clare Hall in the University of Cambridge
in 2002, a Fellow of the Malaysian Institute of Arbitrators in 2003, a
Member of the Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners and a Fellow
of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in 2008, a Full Fellow of the
Society for Advanced Legal Studies in the University of London in 2009,
a Special Member of the International Association of Prosecutors (The
United Nations) in 2012 and a Member of the Magistrates’ Association
of Great Britain in 2015.

Dr. Sze specializes in criminal and commercial matters. Since 2007,
he has been a Visiting Professor of the IMO International Maritime Law
Institute (The United Nations). He has authored a treatise on carrier’s
liability, several monographs for The International Encyclopedia of
Laws, and more than 60 articles in the areas of public law, business
law and international trade law. Most recently, he was commissioned by
the University of Oxford to produce a biography of the late Sir Denys
Roberts, a former Chief Justice of Hong Kong. In 2005 and 2008, he
served as a PhD thesis examiner at Macquarie Law School in Sydney.
Save as disclosed above, Dr. Sze does not hold directorship in any
other listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years and he does not hold any other position with the Company
and other members of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

E 2R &5 &K E

Executive Directors

Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 38, is an executive
Director, Chief Executive Officer, member of the Remuneration
Committee and member of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
She is responsible for overseeing the daily operations of the Company.
Ms. Cheng received her bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
(Accounting and Finance) from the University of Hong Kong and is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Prior to
joining the Company, she had served with an international audit firm.
Save as disclosed above, Ms. Cheng does not hold directorship in
any listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years. Ms. Cheng is the sister of Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew,
an executive Director of the Company. She also holds directorships in
various subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 44, is an executive
Director of the Company. He obtained his bachelor’s degree from the
California State University, USA. He has over 18 years’ experience
in securities, corporate finance and direct investment. He is also an
executive director of UBA Investments Limited (Stock Code: 0768).
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cheng does not hold directorship in any
listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years. He also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Cheng is the brother of Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie, an
executive Director of the Company.

Mr. MOK Kwai Hang (“Mr. Mok”), aged 53, is an executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Mok is responsible for overseeing the daily operation
of the Company’s property segment. Mr. Mok received his Bachelor’s
Degree in Quantity Surveying from Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors, the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and
the Chartered Institute of Architectural Technologists. Prior to joining the
Company, he had served with Hip Hing Construction Company Limited
as Deputy General Manager (Commercial) involved in various projects
in Hong Kong and Macau and as associate director in Widnell Limited
involved in building and infrastructure projects in Hong Kong. Saved as
disclosed above, Mr. Mok has not held any other directorships in other
Hong Kong or overseas listed public companies in the last three years.
He also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the Company.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan (“Mr. Chan”), aged 50, is an independent
non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Chan holds two master degrees in
Practising Accounting and Business Law from Monash University,
Australia. Professionally, he is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, CPA Australia, The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in UK, The Hong Kong Institute of
Company Secretaries, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and is
a member of The Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute.
He is also an associate of the Institute of Certified Management
Accountants of Australia, and The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers. He
is awarded with “Chartered Banker” by the Chartered Institute of
Bankers in Scotland, UK. Currently, he is a Standing Member and
Convenor of Hong Kong members of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Yunfu City of Guangdong Province, and
secretary general of China Hong Kong Macau Boundary Crossing
Bus Association, and honorary standing director of Guangdong'’s
Association For Promotion of Cooperation Among Guangdong, Hong
Kong and Macau. Mr. Chan was appointed as member of the Board of
Review (Inland Revenue) of HKSAR from 2009 to 2011. Currently, he is
the managing director of a transportation company which is a subsidiary
of a listed company. He is also an independent non-executive director
and chairman of the audit committee of UBA Investments Limited
(Stock Code: 0768). Other than as disclosed above, Mr. Chan holds no
directorship in other public companies listed on any securities market
in Hong Kong or overseas now or in the past three years and he does
not hold any other position with the Company and other members of the
Group.

Mr. POON Kai Tik (“Mr. Poon”), aged 64, is an independent
non-executive Director, member of the Audit Committee, Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Poon graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a Bachelor Degree in Arts and a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Having more than 39 years of working experience, Mr. Poon is well
respected across industries, ranging from advertising, marketing
to public relations. He previously served as Head of Corporate
Communications of the Hospital Authority, assistant director of
Corporate and Community Relations of the Housing Authority and
director of Government and Community Engagement of the Link Real
Estate Investment Trust (Stock code: 0823). Save as disclosed above,
Mr. Poon does not hold directorship in any listed public companies in
Hong Kong or overseas during the past three years and he does not
hold any other position with the Company and other members of the
Group.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan (“Mr. Hui"), aged 38, is an independent
non-executive Director, member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Hui
graduated from Monash University, Australia with Bachelor's Degree
in Business (Banking and Finance) and holds two Master's Degrees of
Applied Finance and Practising Accounting from Monash University,
Australia. He is a member of CPA Australia and he has over 11
years of experience in corporate finance, financial management and
accounting and previously served with an international audit firm. Save
as disclosed above, Mr. Hui does not hold directorship in any listed
public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past three years
and he does not hold any other position with the Company and other
members of the Group.

Mr. LI Chi Chung (“Mr. Li"), aged 48, is the company secretary and the
authorised representative of the Company. He is currently a solicitor
practising in Hong Kong. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor degree in laws
from University of Sheffield in England in 1990. He was admitted as a
solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in 1993 and his practice has
been focused on commercial related matters. Mr. Li was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of PINE Technology Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1079) (“PINE”) on 9 June 2000 and subsequently
re-designated as the non-executive director on 17 January 2017. Mr. Li
is an independent non-executive director of Kenford Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 0464) (“Kenford”), both PINE and Kenford are
companies listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. He is
the company secretary of China Financial International Investments
Limited (Stock Code: 0721), Kingbo Strike Limited (Stock Code: 1421),
Huscoke Resources Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 0704) and China
City Infrastructure Group Limited (Stock Code: 2349), all of which
are companies listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. He
is also the company secretary of Singasia Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8293), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the
Stock Exchange. From November 2002 to 27 February 2013, he was
an independent non-executive director of Eagle Nice (International)
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2368); from 8 January 2014 to 7 April
2014, Mr. Li was the company secretary of Z-Obee Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 0948); from 21 May 2014 to 16 January 2015, Mr. Li was
the company secretary of China Zenith Chemical Group Limited (Stock
Code: 0362); from 15 July 2013 to 1 May 2015, he was the company
secretary of Evershine Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as TLT
Lottotainment Group Limited) (Stock Code: 8022); from 23 September
2009 to 1 June 2015, Mr. Li was the company secretary of AVIC
Joy Holdings (HK) Limited (formerly known as China Environmental
Investment Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 0260); from 12 December
2007 to 1 June 2015, he was the company secretary of China
Nonferrous Metals Company Limited (Stock Code: 8306); and from 15
June 2015 to 20 September 2016, he was the company secretary of
KPM Holding Limited (Stock Code: 8027).
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The Board has pleasure in presenting its report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st
March, 2017.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate finance
advisory, assets management, precious metal trading and property
investment.

Business Review

A fair review of the business and the prospect of the Company and a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position are
provided in the section “Chairman’s Statement” from pages 5 to 8 of
this annual report. These discussion form part of this director’s report.
Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company
can be found throughout this annual report particularly in note 4 and
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Segment information

Details of segment information by principal businesses and
geographical locations are set out in note 7(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2017 are set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Results
The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2017 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 55.

Dividend

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK1.8 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 8th September, 2017.

Share capital
Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out in
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Financial summary BRHME

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group AT AXEERAEAANBEE 2 £EREE
for the last five financial years is set out below. This summary is not part HEBEZHE - BV ELERE S M ERE
of the audited consolidated financial statements. B o

RESULTS 4
Year ended 31st March

HE=A=1t-HLEE
(In HK$°000) (LB ForBE) 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

317,515 443,398 259,467 83,927 66,761

Bk

Revenue K

Profit before taxation B 7 A & A 234,084 520,223 317,267 166,091 169,601
Income tax expense TSR X (8,234) (2,022) (1,850) (1,435) (2,207)
Net profit for the year REEARRAI#R

attributable to equity BB AEEF R

holders of the Company 225,867 518,309 315,407 164,910 167,612
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHERE

As at 31st March

W=A=+-—8H
(In HK$'000) (LB F o BE) 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Total assets EEHE 2,640,888 2,380,129 2,131,248 1,776,933 1,604,577
Total liabilities BEBE (269,976)  (191,550)  (368,190)  (280,398)  (224,813)
Net assets BEFE 2,370,912 2,188,579 1,763,058 1,496,535 1,379,764

UPBEST GRO LIM
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Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the
share premium, contributed surplus, retained profits and proposed
final dividend under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The
share premium of the Company is available for paying dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles
of Association and provided that immediately following the distribution
of dividend the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. In accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association, dividends can be distributed out of the share premium,
contributed surplus, retained profits and proposed final dividend of the
Company which in aggregate amounted to approximately HK$422.6
million as at 31st March, 2017.

Property, plant and equipment and investment properties

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31st March, 2017,
resulting an increase in net fair value amounting to approximately
HK$150 million which has been recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Details of these and other movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment and investment properties are set out in notes 14
and 15 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Borrowings

Borrowings repayable within one year or on demand are classified as
current liabilities. A repayment analysis of borrowings is set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements. No interest was capitalised
by the Group during the year.

Major clients

For the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Group’s five largest
clients accounted for in aggregate approximately 70% (2016: 82%)
of the Group’s revenue, of which the largest client accounted for
approximately 59% (2016: 78%) of the Group’s revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholder of
the Company which to the knowledge of the Directors of the Company
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital have an

interest in the Group’s five largest clients.
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REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Except for the issue of bonus shares on 19th September, 2016, other
than as an agent for clients of the Company or its subsidiaries, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31st
March, 2017.

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman)
Dr. SZE Ping Fat

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan

Mr. POON Kai Tik

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan

In accordance with Articles 116 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, Mr. MOK Kwai Hang and
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan shall retire by rotation from office at the
Annual General Meeting and being eligible, offers themselves for
re-election at the Annual General Meeting.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive Directors
lasts until his retirement by rotation as required by the Company’s
Articles of Association.

The Company received confirmation of independence in respect
of the year ended 31st March, 2017 from each of the independent
non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Revised Listing
Rules. Up to and as at the date of this report, the Company still
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Equity-Linked Agreements
No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Company’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the year and up to the date of this report,
the Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Article 179 of Articles of Association of the Company provides that
every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him/her as a Director or other officer of the Company in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given
in his/her favour, or in which he is acquitted. Subject to the Cayman
companies law, if any Director or other person shall become personally
liable for the payment of any sum primarily due from the Company, the
Board may execute or cause to be executed any mortgage, charge,
or security over or affecting the whole or any part of the assets of the
Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director or person so
becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such liability.

In addition, the Company has taken out and maintained directors’
and officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover the certain legal actions brought against its directors
and officers.

Environmental Policies

The Group is committed to building an eco-friendly corporation that
tries to reduce the impacts of its operation on the environment, and to
ensure our compliance of prevailing environmental protection laws and
regulations. For details, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” contained in this annual report.

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
The Group continues to ride on 6 key pillars on the six business
streams, being (i) Brokerage (securities and futures), (ii) Financing, (iii)
Corporate Financial Advisory, (iv) Assets Management, (v) Property
Investment and (vi) Precious Metal Trading.

Yet there is no specific customers or suppliers involved in the operation
of business, we maintain good working relationship to create value
for the Group. The Group also values the knowledge and skills of its
employees, and continues to provide favourable career development
opportunities for its employees.
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Directors’ service contracts

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ interests in contracts

In the opinion of the Board, there were no contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation

As at 31st March, 2017, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein, or which are required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

EECRBEN

EANRBTRRBFAG LERABEEEY
EXRASEMETUARENMELREE OF
ERERIN MTRE—FATURIEZRBES
#

EERNEN 2R

FN REEFECER  ARAREEMME
DRFINARARRAEE ZERGNT AL
EENIEERARBERAEANS - ARAFE
TE 48 I S PO F A AT B P T R AR K

EERIETUABRAATREAHE D
B BB RES 2SR AR

RZF—tF=ZA=1+—H ARAZEFAT
ETRABRARAREMEREZE (EERE
FREEGROIEXV) 2B - HERG RESF
BA T s foxkR - BREEF RS G
FXVERET7 M8 BB A F G A8 1% B % B <2 Py 0 78
@ (BRREESLNERIBBGEZERE
EEBRRBEEORZLARR)  ARBESRK
HAE 15D 36216 A B ie 10 i% AR E P B =T il -
FARB(LTARNESTETEFRRIFOREST
BI) 2 B MG AN B KB FT :

Number of shares
RH%E
Personal
interests Family
(held as interests Percentage
beneficial (interest Corporate of issued
Name of Directors owner) of spouse) interests  Other interests Total  share capital
fEAER FEER BRARE
EE3:2 (REEEAA) (RREL) EEER EfpgR 25 Al
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each AL AEREE.01ETZ
in the Company LER
CHENG Wai Ling, Annie (Note 1) BeR W) - - 1,992,721,496 - 1,992,721496 74.29%
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (Note 1) SR (H#1) - - 192,721,496 - 1992,721,496 74.29%
MOK Kwai Hang (Mot 2) BEE W) 1,200,000 1,394,190 5 - 2,594,190 0.10%
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Note 1: As at 31st March, 2017, CCAA Group Limited (“CCAA”), an associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) of the Company,
was directly interested in 1,992,721,496 Shares in, representing
approximately 74.29% of, the issued share capital of the Company.
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie and their
family members are the beneficiaries of the trust which assets include
interests in the entire issued share capital of CCAA and accordingly,
they are deemed to be interested in 1,992,721,496 Shares and the entire
issued share capital of CCAA under the SFO.

Note 2: As at 31st March, 2017, Mr. MOK Kwai Hang, an executive Director
of the Company with his spouse together have beneficial interest in
2,594,190 shares of the Company.

At no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries or its
associated companies a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors or executives of the Company (including their spouse and
children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition in shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2017, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which are required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which are required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures

At no time during the year was the Company, its ultimate holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of,

the Company or any other body corporate.
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Substantial shareholder’s interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares of the Company

As at 31st March, 2017, the following persons or corporations, interest
in 5% or more in the shares and underlying shares of the Company have
been notified to the Company and recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders’ interests in shares and short positions required to be kept
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name of shareholder

Number of shares held

FERERADRA2RORBERD 2EH
5879

RZE—+F=RB=+—H "' THATHEER
T%*ﬁzmﬁﬂH%ﬁmﬁEﬂﬂ%ﬁm%uizwﬁ%
BRABMAMERAT  WEREEARRBAERK
WJ%xv%ﬁ%wesﬂ%%ﬁi%&ﬁﬁézxﬂﬁ’ééaﬂﬂ :

Percentage of
total number of
shares in issued

PR EE FEEERBRESE HEBRTROES L
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each AATREREENIETZ

in the Company ZER
CCAA (Note) CCAA(H17#) 1,992,721,496 74.29%

Note: Identical to those disclosed above as “Directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2017, the Directors are not
aware of any other persons who have interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Directors’ remuneration

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed
by the Remuneration Committee annually.

Connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
During the year, the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions undertaken by the Group are included in the transactions
set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, certain
details of which are disclosed in compliance with the requirements of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the connected BN I TEED BHE AU B REMIIIME
transactions and continuing connected transactions in note 33 to ZEEXRHRIFEBERS  WEER  BERT
the consolidated financial statements and have confirmed that the SREFEBERSNEAEBRER—BEL
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions have BYETE4 : (i)R—REL KRR TBERKE
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business ERBIE=HEMHKESZER(NER)E
of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less 17 R(iVRBEEER F 2 HBHZEATEE
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate) — R&& A2 B IR 52 B 82 FI 25 RO (&SR ET 3L o
independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant

agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and

in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the continuing connected  ANA A Z & HENE B E NG B BEHRE M 333
transactions during the year as set out in note 33 to the consolidated ZHFRNFE@ELSH THEALERS
financial statements and confirmed that these transactions:

(i)  were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company; () EBERRARESESIE

(i) where applicable, were in accordance with the pricing policies of (i) @R @ HAARRAF ZBHREE
the Company;

(iii) had been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements (i) JJREBX 52 HEKRTET &
governing the transactions; and

(iv) have not exceeded the caps stated in the relevant announcement.  (iv) WEMBBEBA SR FR -

As disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company and UBA  HMAA=EEAREESRAR ([HBEE]
Investments Limited (‘UBA”, together with its subsidiaries as the “UBA EREK B AT S A[HAKREEER]) B
Group”) dated 26th January, 2016, various members of the Group AZT—NF—AZ+ BB E N HAMIE
entered into certain conditional agreements with the UBA Group, which & KNEBETHE Ao EHAKREEEVE
would constitute continuing connected transactions (the “CCT") on the FTHEHGHHE  PEEZE-_Z—+tF —Z—N\F
part of the Group for the years ending 31st March, 2017, 2018 and KR-ZE—AF=A=+—BIEE ' HEKAKE
2019. The relevant resolutions of the Company approving the CCT have BEfFEBEET S ([FHEBETS]) - AR
been passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held EREBETFIHNEBRERCEAATR-Z

on 30th March, 2016. —AREZA=ZTRBTZRREIAE LEB -
Confirmation for Continuing Connected Transactions FEBRERSERE

A letter pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules has been issued ZARAGZHRHMEMEZ XY FHREE
to the Board by the auditors of the Company confirming the matters  14A.56{£ T4 7 B LARE R E14A 561 @7
stated in Rule 14A.56 in respect of the above continuing connected A FSEB:ET FEEHHEEE o
transactions for management agreement.

Management contracts BEEEHN

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the ZAARRAEEWEAEZENBER AL
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was sl AK#0HEKZEIERITHAL °

entered into or existed during the year.

Pre-emptive rights BEREER

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights which would oblige AAFZ ARAEEREAARANKFESEEE
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing I3 EE 5| E @A B BRL HIEERRARE
shareholders under the Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of REHFRIELEERET -

Association and the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands.
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Audit committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Group.

As at 31st March, 2017, the Audit Committee of the Group is comprised
of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUl Man Ho, Ivan. Two
independent non-executive Directors have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise
as prescribed by the Listing Rules. The main duties of the Audit
Committee include the review of the relationship with external auditors
of the Company, review of financial information of the Group and
oversight of the Group’s financial reporting system and internal control
procedures.

Code on corporate governance practices

The Listing Rules have been amended by the Stock Exchange by
replacing the Code of Best Practice in Appendix 14 by a new Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code”) and adding a new
Appendix 23 on the requirements for a Corporate Governance Report to
be included in annual reports of Listed Issuers.

Pursuant to code provisions A.4.1 in respect of the service term of
directors, none of the existing non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is appointed for a specific term.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code.
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement provisions under
article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

Pursuant to code provisions A.6.7, independent non-executive directors
and other non-executive directors should attend general meeting and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. The
independent non-executive Director, Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan was
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 31st August, 2016 due to his other business engagements. This
constitutes a deviation from code provision A.6.7 of the Code. Moreover,
non-attendance of Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan may also constitute
deviation from code provision E.1.2 of the Code. Despite of him, all the
other Directors were present in the annual general meeting held on 31st
August, 2016.
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Model code for securities transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors by Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Upon enquiry by the Company, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code throughout the year.

Directors’ interests in competing businesses

As at 31st March, 2017, none of the Directors and their associates
had any interests in an entity whose business competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business.

Corporate governance

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 28 to 42 of this
Annual Report.

Sufficiency of public float

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage of the
Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public is not less than
25% of the Company'’s total number of issued shares.

Auditors
Messrs. Li, Tang, Chen & Co. acted as auditors of the Company for the
years ended 31st March, 2015, 2016 and 2017.

Messrs. Li, Tang, Chen & Co. retire and a resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. IP Man Tin, David
Chairman and Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 23rd June, 2017

2017
Annual Report # &

ERETESRIZBETE
ARFERM ETRAIM IO LM RITAE
SENTEFRHFETA (R A]) - &K
AEEHRR  ERESHER NERFA-HE
RIZESTRAE 2 RERE -

ESRMFERBT2ER

R-E—+tF=-A=1+—H EFREEZEZ
FEATHEREXBERARRRBEZNEE
BREFAARERBF CERTRE T

..
# °

TEER
ARBNEREERRARERENAFHFE28E
REZEEELRRES -

RADNRFERE
BREAADEBSZ ARENRBESHMA O
ALTFREARRR Z BB EFDRARBE T
LD 48 £125% o

R E
FEREMEBARBE_FT—1F —F
—NERZELEF A=t RLEFEEER
NCIEZS (i

FERGHAMERIGEREE  BRAATE
EREEEREG FBRE-BEAZERE EEEA
/NCIg % G

AEZGm

BEERAE

FERIPTEE

BB —_E—tFXHAZt+=H

2 %




238

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

* % B A

The Board of Directors of the Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”)
(the “Board”) is committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance practices, which are crucial to the smooth, effective
and transparent operation of the Company and its ability to attract
investment, protect rights of shareholders and stakeholders, and
enhance shareholder value.

Corporate Governance Practices

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices
and structures that were in place during the financial year ended 31st
March, 2017, with specific reference to the principles and guidelines
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In developing and
reviewing its corporate governance policies and practices, the
Company has sought to adopt a balanced approach.

Compliance with Corporate Governance Code

The Company complied with the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules throughout year ended 31st March, 2017, except for the following.

Code Provision A.4.1

Pursuant to code provisions A.4.1 in respect of the service term of
directors, none of the existing non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is appointed for a specific term.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code.
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement provisions under
article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

Code Provision A.6.7

Pursuant to code provisions A.6.7, independent non-executive directors
and other non-executive directors should attend general meeting and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. The
independent non-executive director, Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan was
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 31st August, 2016 due to his other business engagements. This
constitutes a deviation from code provision A.6.7 of the Code. Moreover,
non-attendance of Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan may also constitute
deviation from code provision E.1.2 of the Code. Despite of him, all the
other Directors were present in the annual general meeting held on 31st
August, 2016.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, that they fully complied with the
Model Code throughout the year.
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The Company has also established written guidelines regarding
securities transaction on no less exacting terms of the Model Code for
senior management and specific individual who may have access to
price sensitive information in relation to the securities of the Company.

Corporate Governance Structure

With the assistance of the Compliance Department, the Board has
designed a proper corporate governance structure. Currently, there
are seven board committees, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee, Credit Committee, Executive
Committee, Compliance and Risk Steering Committee and Strategy
Management Committee. Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference. Executive Committee assists
the Group to set up business strategy and planning, and Credit
Committee oversees the granting of credit facilities. Compliance
and Risk Steering Committee maintains and promotes the fairness,
efficiency, competitiveness transparency and orderliness of the
Group’s business. Strategy Management Committee aims to review and
formulate the Group’s operations and business activities development.

Board Composition, Function and Practices

As at 31st March, 2017, the Board comprises of the chairman
(non-executive Director), one non-executive Director, three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. Mr. IP Man
Tin, David acts as chairman (“Chairman”) and non-executive Director of
the Board. Dr. SZE Ping Fat is a non-executive Director. Other executive
Directors are Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
and Mr. MOK Kwai Hang. There are three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI
Man Ho. Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan have
appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise. All
Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first General
Meeting after their appointment and are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and eligible for re-election in
accordance with the Company’s Articles and Association.

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The biographical details of each Director and senior
management are disclosed in pages 13 to 16 of this Annual Report.

Each independent non-executive Director has pursuant to the rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he is independent of the Company
and the Company also considers that they are independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) among members of the Board except that
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew is the brother of Ms. CHENG Wai Ling,
Annie.
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The Board, headed by the Chairman, is responsible for formulation
and approval of the Group’s development and business strategies and
policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, overseeing
the Group’s compliance with statutory and regulatory obligations,
scrutinizing the performance of the Group in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, financial reporting and ensuring
proper internal control, risk management have been implemented,
recommendation of dividend, and supervision of management in
accordance with the rules governing the meeting of the Board, articles
of association and rules governing the meeting of shareholders.

The executive Directors are responsible for day-to-day management
of the Company’s operations. These executive Directors conduct
regular meetings with the senior management of the Company and its
subsidiaries and associated companies, at which operational issues
and financial performance are evaluated.

Regular Board meeting is held no less than four times a year. Apart from
the regular Board meetings, the Chairman shall hold meetings with the
non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
without the presence of executive Directors at least once every year.

In respect of regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers are sent in full to all Directors in a timely manner and
at least three days before the intended date of a Board or board
committee meeting. Adequate information related to the issues are
also supplied for the Board and its committee to make decisions which
is for the best interests of the Group. Notice of at least fourteen days
are given to all Directors and all Directors have an opportunity to
attend. The Directors who cannot attend in person might through other
electronic means of communications to participate. Senior management
executives may, from time to time, be invited to attend the Board
meeting for making presentation and/or answering any queries that may
be raised by the Board.

The non-executive Directors would seek guidance and direction from
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ”) and executive Directors
on the future business direction and strategic plans in order to gain
a comprehensive understanding of the business of the Company to
facilitate their exercise of independent judgment. The non-executive
Directors also reviewed the financial information and operational
performance of the Group on a regular basis.

During the financial year, the Board adopted the board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) with a view to achieving a sustainable
and balanced development of the Company. The Company views the
increasing board diversity as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In determining the composition of the Board, a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service are taken into account in respect of the diversity of
the Board. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and
candidates will be selected based on objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Final decisions to be
made by the Board will be based on each candidate’s attributes and
contributions to be made to the Board.
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Proceedings of the Board and Respective Board Committees
Meetings

The Company Secretary will assist the chairman of the Board and the
respective board committees in setting agenda for meetings, and each
Director is given an opportunity to include any matters to be transacted
in the agenda. Where any Director is considered to be having a conflict
of interest in any transactions, the Director concerned will not be
counted in the quorum of the relevant meeting.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and the respective board committees
are recorded in details. All draft minutes are circulated to all those
present at the meetings for comment before submission to the chairman
of the meetings for approval.

During the financial year ended 31st March, 2017, the Board held
6 Board meetings. Due notice and Board papers were given to all
Directors prior to the meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles
of association and the CG Code. Each individual member of the Board
and the respective Board committee at the Board and the respective
board committee meeting(s) held during the year and attendance of the

individual Directors are as follows:

EZERREZZEEERZER

ANBEHYESRTIRREESREEER
25%2%7& REFURUBENATRECE

HEAZE - MEIFNESRIREEARSTE

MEHR E'Jﬁ@ﬁ%%ﬂvK@%&aﬂ’ﬁﬁfﬁQ%

EENE o

EXERRESFORR e OO EHER
B-MAERZERLBIEREREGRATIRL
BEZAXTFHEGRZ AL -

REBE_T—+F=A=+—HILZHERFE
EZeC0BI0REZECR - EERNNES
EXHERBEARAAGERAIREEERT
AEERAEREEES -EFERNESFELEE
ZRERFANEFEFEEENEEFREES
#ZHMEBEROT :

Attendance/Number of Meetings held

HEER/ BHEERY
Executive Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General

Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

#7%Z88 EWZEEE §MzEE R#zEg RE
ESitg BEZEER EE EE EE EE ] BEXE
Total number of meetings EELE 6 4 2 1 3 1
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman) ERXEE(2E) 6 NATER NATER  NATER  NASER 1
Dr. SZE Ping Fat EREET 6 NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER 1
Executive Directors HiTES
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie gERNE 6 4 NATER 1 3 1
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew ey ok 6 4 NATER  NAMER  NATER 1
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang ERELE 6 4 NATER  NATER  NATER 1
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUFH{TES
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan Rr&Efd 6 N/A T8 2 1 3 0
Mr. POON Kai Tik ARELE 6 N/A R iEF 2 1 3 1
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan FELE 6 NATNER 2 1 3 1
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure Directors’ contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant, the Company encourages Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and understanding of the business and markets
in which the Group operates. Directors are also provided with monthly
performance and position updates of the Group, and information such
as performance and key operational highlights to enable the Board
as a whole as well as each Director to discharge their duties. For the
financial year ended 31st March, 2017, all Directors have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development and provided the
Company with their records of training. A summary of training records
provided by the current Directors is as follows:

Reading articles, newspapers,
journal and/or updates

Name of Directors EEHE
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. IP Man Tin, David EEgRkAE
Dr. SZE Ping Fat M RETE =
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie #1E¥NME
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew HFEmEE
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang REHEE
Independent Non-executive Directors B EHITES
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan RR&ELE
Mr. POON Kai Tik 18 b
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan AFOERE

Company secretary

Company secretary is to ensure there is a good information flow within
the Board and between the Board and senior management, provides
advice to the Board in relation to directors’ obligations under the Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations and assists the Board in
implementing the corporate governance practices. Company secretary
has provided his training records to the Company indicating his
compliance with the training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

Independent Professional Advice

The Company has set up a procedure agreed by the Board for its
Directors to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, and at the Company’s expense to discharge their duties
to the Company.
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Chairman and Management

The roles of the Chairman is separate from that of the CEO and their
responsibilities are clearly established. The Chairman and CEO of the
Company are Mr. IP Man Tin, David and Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
respectively. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to
the Board to ensure the Board will act in the best interests of the Group.

The CEO will work with executive committee (including head of each
department) and other executive Directors to manage the businesses
of the Group. The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the business of the Group, attends to formulation and successful
implementation of policies, and assumes full accountability to the Board
for all operations of the Group.

Two of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUlI Man Ho. Ivan have the appropriate
professional accounting experiences and expertise. The Board
membership is covered by professionally qualified and widely
experienced personnel so as to bringing in valuable contribution and
different professional advices and consultancy for the development of
the Company. Over one-half of the Board members have recognised
legal, professional securities and/or accounting qualifications.

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors act in good faith,
with due diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. Their responsibilities include:

Regular Board meetings focusing on business strategy,
operational issues and financial performance.

- Active participation on the boards of subsidiaries and associated
companies.

- Approval of annual budgets for each operating company covering
strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and

opportunities.

- Monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting.

- Reviewing of the Compliance with the CG Code.

- Monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of
management, Board members and shareholders, including misuse

of corporate assets and abuse in related party transaction.

2017
Annual Report # &

IRREEE

IRETRBYZACLREES  REZBEAD
RHE - AARZEERITRAR DRI RE R
REERBER/NME - TREEREEFS ¥
RESEGUAREZKRENKTS -

TRBEBEATEEE (
HMATESAEERAEB £ - TTHAE

AEAGEEGCAREE

BREEHHAEE) R

REBRZHIER

RNET URAKE—JEEHESTERES

%BFEE]EEE\,%\E N

MABLIFRITEERRERERFOELED
AREREEERANE - EFEK
EERARERENRNER
ARARSREEZER - URBARR 2 ERER
i%ﬁ§¥E RER-B-+EFENERA
R RUBEFSRLEHER-

BEBEEEvE%E

BBz AL BAR

EROTRECBRET  EFEWM  BEME
EE - RURRAREBRRORENETE - B

SEEE:

- THAHE

PN
=l

#/Iﬁl\i%%ﬁﬁmi

ZEFERMBRER

- TEER2EHE
- REREER

- ERABRIIBREZRE  EEME R

B R AT S
- BENALEER

AEMEFEE  RERE
MBHREGRE TE2RR &%

ATAIZEBR

- EXREBREERE BESeREEREZ
BRI 2 Rl E e
ARG -

ENERA

CBERRALEE

33




34

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

* % B A

- Ensuring processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity
of the Company, including financial statements, relationships with
suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, and compliance with
all laws and ethics.

- Reviewing of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company through the Audit Committee.

To enable the Company’s Directors to meet their obligations, an
appropriate organizational structure is in place with clearly defined
responsibilities and limits of authority.

Board Committees

A number of Board Committees, including Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, Credit Committee,
Executive Committee, Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
and Strategy Management Committee have been established by the
Board to strengthen its functions and to enhance its expertise. These
committees have been formed with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with the committees authority and duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. In accordance with
the requirements of the CG Code, the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee was revised and approved on 18th July, 2005 and 16th
March, 2012 to comply with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures, review of
the relationship with the auditors and financial information of the Group.
The revised terms of reference, explaining its role and the authority
delegated to it by the Board are available for inspection on request at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

As at 31st March, 2017, the Audit Committee of the Company is
comprised of three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI Man Ho,
Ivan. It is chaired by Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan. It reports directly
to the Board and reviews matters within the scope of audit, such as
financial statements and internal controls, to protect the interests of the
Company'’s shareholders.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss audit process and accounting issues, and reviews
effectiveness of internal controls and risk evaluation. Written terms
of reference, which describes the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.
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Set out below is the summary of work done in financial year 2016/2017:

- to review the interim financial report and annual financial
statements;

- to review effectiveness of the internal control system, financial
controls and risk management system;

- toreview auditors’ statutory audit plan and letters of representation;
- to consider and approve audit fees and audit work;

- ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and
has appropriate standing within the Company;

- toreview of continuing connected transactions and annual cap;

- review of the internal audit review reports by the internal audit
function and discussed the risk management and internal control
issues of the Group;

- review of the 2017 internal audit plan; and

- review of the updated reports on substantiation of the resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions and their training
programmes and budget, with a recommendation to the Board for
approval.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that Li, Tang,
Chen & Co. Certified Public Accountants (Practising), be nominated for
re-appointment as external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table above.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31st March, 2017, the Remuneration Committee is comprised
of independent non-executive Directors Mr. POON Kai Tik, Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan and an executive Director,
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie. Mr. POON Kai Tik is appointed as
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The Committee shall meet not
less than once every year.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
reviewed with reference to the CG Code.
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The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
review and consider the Company’s policy for remuneration of Directors
and senior management, to determine remuneration packages of
executive Directors and senior management including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, and to recommend to
the Board remuneration of non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Remuneration Committee
done in financial year 2016/2017:

- toreview the remuneration policy for 2016/2017;

- to review the remuneration of the executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors; and

- toreview the annual share option policy (if any).

Nomination Committee

The Board has established a Nomination Committee on 21st March,
2012 comprising one executive Director, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
and three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. POON Kai Tik,
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan. It is chaired by
Mr. POON Kai Tik.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, which is available
on the Company’s website, set out details of the Committee’s duties,
powers and functions, nomination procedures and the process and
criteria adopted for selection and recommendation of candidates
for directorship of the Company, summary of which in financial year
2016/2017 is set out below:

- to determine the policy for the nomination of Directors;

- to review and recommend the implementation of the Diversity
Policy;

- to review the size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience and length of service) of the Board
annually; and making recommendations to the Board regarding
any proposed changes to implement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

- to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on

the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

- to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

- to make recommendations to the Board on the relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.
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The Nomination Committee held 3 meetings during the financial
year ended 31st March, 2017. Details of individual attendance of its
members are set out in the table above.

Credit Committee

A Credit Committee comprises two executive Directors and
other members responsible for overseeing the granting of credit
facilities. Daily operation of money lending will be guided by the
stringent procedures as prescribed by the internal control manual. The
Committee meets weekly and ad-hoc meetings will be held when market
and economic conditions changes significantly.

Executive Committee

The Committee comprises the CEO and the heads of each departments
of the Group. The Committee manages the day-to-day business of the
Group and meets regularly to resolve problems, makes decisions on
business matters to achieve corporate goals and objectives.

Compliance and Risk Steering Committee

The Group has established a Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
headed by the Compliance Officer. The objectives of the Compliance
and Risk Steering Committee are to:

- maintain and promote the fairness, efficiency, competitiveness
transparency and orderliness of the Group’s business;

- promote understanding by the staff members of the operation and
functioning of the Group’s business;

- provide appropriate protection for the Group’s clients; and
- prevent crime and misconduct in the Group’s business.

The Compliance and Risk Steering Committee meets bi-weekly to
discuss any current compliance issue and enhance the Group’s
practice and relevant compliance issue if necessary. It is believed that
better and balanced corporate governance environment will help to
enhance the Group’s expanding process which in turn translates into
shareholder value in the future.

Strategy Management Committee

The Group has established a Strategy Management Committee headed
by an executive Director. The Strategy Management Committee meeting
is held on a bi-weekly basis. The objectives of the Strategy Management
Committee include:

- formulation of medium and long-term strategies of the Group;
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- review of operations and business activities of the Group; and - RIAAEECZENERETE M
- making recommendations to improve operational efficiencies. - REEZE UNRSEEBREX
Corporate Governance Functions LEERB
The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate #Ee@EEEEHNTOLET LT  AIF:

governance duties including:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The internal controls of the Group are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that the Group’s assets and shareholders’ investments are
safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are
executed in accordance with the management’s authorisation, internal
audit, proper accounting records are maintained, and the relevant
legislation and regulations are being complied with.

Internal control procedures and risk management systems are in place
in each of the principal operating units of the Group. The Compliance
Department undertakes the role of reviewing and assessing the Group’s
internal control system implemented in the principal operations for their
respective effectiveness and efficiency on a continuous basis.

The key tasks basically include:

- reviewing the Group’s principal activities and risk management
effectiveness;

- conducting comprehensive examination of the practices and
procedures as to the recognition of income and expenditure;
and internal control systems of the business units of the Group
on a regular basis;

- undertaking special reviews and investigations of areas for
improvement identified by management; and
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- the Audit Committee of the Group reviews internal control issues
identified by external auditors, regulatory authorities and the
management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Compliance Department has conducted a thorough review and
assessment of the Group’s existing internal control systems. The
review covers all material activities, including finance, operational and
compliance controls and risk management.

Internal Audit

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Board.
It provides an independent and objective assurance to safeguard
the Group’s operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined
approach to evaluate and improve the Group’s process on risk
management, internal control and governance. The audit plans are risk
based to ensure that a methodical coverage of the Group’s operations
and resources are focused on high risk areas. Ad hoc reviews are
conducted on areas of concern where necessary.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy
of resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications and
experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
staff in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and fulfill the
requirement of the CG Code regarding risk management and internal
control systems in general.

Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board ensures the inside information is kept strictly confidential
until the relevant announcement is made. The Directors are not aware
of any significant areas which need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders.

Finance

The Company’s assets were used in an appropriate manner, the
expenditures in each of the operating units of the Group were under
strict control. Expenditures exceeding certain predetermined amounts
needed management’s authorisation. Accounting records were properly
maintained.

Operation

A hierarchical system with proper work flow and reporting procedures
was duly established in each of the operating units. Every employee
was assigned with a specific area of duty and responsibility.
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Regular meetings with the attendance of senior management and
representatives from each of the operating units were held during the
year in order to improve communication and identify potential issues
within the Group.

Listing Rules Compliance

Throughout the year, the Group has fully complied with the Listing Rules
requirements. Financial reports, announcements and circulars have
been prepared and published in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

Summary Remarks

The Board is satisfied that adequate measures have been put in place
to strengthen and continue to improve the internal control systems. The
Listing Rules Task Force has been formed and continued to monitor
the operations of the Group. The prevailing internal control system are
complied satisfactorily with all the requirements of the Listing Rules.

External Auditors

During the year ended 31st March, 2017 the remuneration payable or
paid to the Group’s existing external auditors, Li, Tang, Chen & Co., are
set out as follows:

Services rendered for the Group

&
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B A5 B R 2 RS 2017 2016
(In HK$°000) (UM FrBEN) —E—tF —E—RF
Audit services EIZ IR 645 630
Non-audit and taxation services B R BERE 25 22
Total B 670 652

Going Concern

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, considers that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The Statements of the Auditors
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 48
to 54.
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Communication with Shareholders

Communications between the Company and its shareholders can be
through several means. The shareholders can visit the Company’s
website at www.upbest.com to learn the general background of the
Company and its activities, which enable the general public to have
a better understanding of the Group. Extensive and detail information
related to the Group’s activities and financial data can be retrieved
from the annual report and interim report issued. In addition, the annual
general meeting provides an opportunity for direct communication
between the Board and the Company’s shareholders.

An annual general meeting (“AGM”) held on 31st August, 2016, the
Chairman of the Board and the representative of external auditor were
available to answer questions at the AGM. The chairman of the meeting
had explained the procedures of conducting a poll during the meeting.
All resolutions were proposed by the Chairman at the AGM and voted
separately by way of poll. All the votes cast at the said meeting were
properly counted and recorded.

Shareholder’s Right

The Way for Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
general meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. General
meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of any one
member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid

up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.
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The Procedures for a Shareholder to propose a person for
Election as a Director

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, details and
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

The Procedures for Shareholders Sending Enquiries

Members should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company's share registrar in Hong Kong. Members may at any time
make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that such
information is publicly available. Members may also make enquiries to
the following contact details of the Company:

Address: 2nd Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre,
300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: 852 2545 3298

Procedures for Shareholders Putting Forward Proposals at
Members’ Meetings

Members are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the operations,
strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at members’
meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Board or the Company Secretary
by written requisition. Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Company, members who wish to put forward a proposal should convene
an extraordinary general meeting by the procedures set out in “Way to
Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting” above.

Corporate Governance Enhancement

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code of the Stock Exchange but about
promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture.
We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve our current
practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory changes and
developments. Any views and suggestions from our shareholders to
promote and improve our transparency are also welcome.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) hereby presents its ESG report ("ESG
Report”) for the year ended 31st March, 2017. The ESG Report is
prepared in accordance with the requirements contained in Appendix
27 “Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Reporting Guide”
(“ESG Reporting Guide”) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

This report outlines the Group’s sustainability initiatives and selected
Key Performance Indicators (“KPI”) that are material to the Group and
its stakeholders on environmental, social and governance issues for the
year ended 31st March, 2017.

Development and Training (Aspect B3)

The Group is aware of the importance of continuous development and
updates of relevant laws and regulations. Our Directors are required
to participate in training to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Group has also provided support for our Directors in
continuous professional training and encourages them to attend training
programs organized by various professional bodies. Training content
and topics are set to cover the key aspects of our operations. These
include:

(1) Compliance and regulatory — general compliance, market and
regulatory updates, prevention of bribery, bankruptcy laws, data
privacy, the Money Lender’s Ordinance;

(2) Management skills and personal - leadership skills, supervisory
skills, KPI setting, communication and interpersonal skills, creative
thinking and problem solving skills, self-development skills; and

(3) General training — language skills, computer skills, debt collection
skills and customer service skills.

Supply Chain Management (Aspect B5)

The Group’s general business suppliers include providers of legal and
other services, premises, information technology and communication
and as well as vendors for office supplies. These are not considered to
pose significant social risks for our business and procurement decisions
are based on pricing, suitability- as well as the general reputation of
suppliers.
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Product Responsibility (Aspect B6)

The Group provides loan and margin financing to individuals and
corporates in Hong Kong. Corporate structured loans, mortgage loan,
consumer finance and small business loans are provided through
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group operate under the Money
Lenders’ Ordinance (“MLQ"), being licensed money lenders. The Group
also provide margin financing to our clients through another wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group operate under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”), being licensed margin financier. During the year,
there were no known cases of non-compliance with the above laws or
regulations.

In Hong Kong, both the MLO and SFO focuses on borrowers’ rights
as well as lenders’ practices. The Compliance and Risk Steering
Committee regularly review of the update of the code of practice and
relevant regulations to make sure compliance in various business
aspects such as customer relationship, know-your-client, anti-money
laundering, credit valuation, collection and recovery and data privacy.

Anti-corruption (Aspect B7)

The Group promotes integrity and prevents unethical pursuits. The
Group has implemented an effective whistle blower policy for reporting
fraud and corruption. We encourage the reporting of suspected
business irregularities and provide clear channels specifically for this
purpose. For the year under review, no significant risks relating to
corruption had been identified. There were no confirmed incidents in
relation to corruption or public legal cases brought against the Group
or its directors concerning corruption. No whistleblowing reports were
received during the year.

Community Investment (Aspect B8)

We promote the social contribution of our member companies to the
local communities in which they operate, and attach much importance
to cultivating a sense of social responsibility among our employees and
encourage them to make better contributions to our communities during
and after work.
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ESG PHILOSOPHY

The Group considers that sustainable development is one of the core
values of the Group, and incorporates the concept of sustainable
development into business operations to create long-term value for
employees, customers, business partners, shareholders, investors and
the community.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

Amongst various environmental and social issues based on the ESG
Reporting Guide, the below are the list of issues that are considered
to be material and relevant to the Group. The priorities are set based
on management’'s view as well as certain conclusions from our
stakeholders’ engagement. We regularly engage key stakeholders in
daily operations through meetings, events, and other communication
and feedback channels. Based on management’s assessment, the
aspects and KPIs relevant to this report’s disclosure are set out as
follows:

Relevant issues:
(1) Emissions (Aspect A1) — general disclosure

(2) Use of resources (Aspect A2) — general disclosure

(3) The Environment and natural resources (Aspect A3) - general
disclosure

(4) Employment (Aspect B1) - general disclosure

(5) Health and safety (Aspect B2) — general disclosure

(6) Development and training (Aspect B3) — general disclosure

(7) Labour standards (Aspect B4) — general disclosure

(8) Supply chain management (Aspect B5) — general disclosure

(9) Product responsibility (Aspect B6) — general disclosure

(10) Anti-corruption (Aspect B7) — general disclosure

(11) Community investment (Aspect B8) — general disclosure

All other KPIs not mentioned above were considered to be not relevant

for detailed disclosure. The following ESG issues are presented based
on the classification of provisions by the ESG Reporting Guide.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

Accordingly, the Group adopts various practices to prevent
pollution, reduce waste, increase recycling and minimize
natural resource use by continually improving our environmental
management practices and measures. Through an environmental
protection guideline sent during the year which mainly suggests
ways to reduce energy and paper consumption. We educate our
staff to adopt responsible behavior and promote environmental
protection in our work place.

To save papers, employees are encouraged to use duplex printing
for internal documents; facilities and procedures are in place
for paper waste recycling; and the Group had strived for long
to establish a paperless office by using electronic storage and
communication whenever possible.

We also took different measures to minimize environmental impact
by saving electricity and encouraging recycle of office supplies
and other materials.

Emissions (Aspect A1)

The Group is not involved in any manufacturing activities. Emissions
produced directly by the Group only related to the executive
passenger vehicles (3) in Hong Kong. These are used for senior
staff's local travel only. The scale and usage is immaterial given the
size of the Group’s assets and staff.

The Group's businesses are mostly carried out locally in offices
and customer services branches in Hong Kong or online. Only a
small percentage of employees travel for business. There are no
relevant laws and regulations applicable to our business on this
aspect.

Use of Resources (Aspect A2), and The Environment and
Natural Resources (Aspect A3)

With over 40 staff across the Group, we consume considerable
amounts of electricity and paper and with the efficient use of such,
we try our best to minimize our impact on the environment whilst
we grow our businesses. Water consumption is not relevant to our
business as it relates only to the personal consumption of our staff
and clients.

We promote green office concept in office. For instance, staff are
reminded to switch off lights and equipment after work, during
lunch break or during the time working outside the office and
wherever possible. Energy efficient office equipment is always
preferred in making purchase decisions.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RELMAERAF)

AN
/A

&

RIERE

Bt AEERBESERE  EARESE
BMORREEE R RERNA LTS
OB - ek kERERDERRA
BR -BRFAZLIEEZRLERER
BERBREAEZRRES  RMEBEET
ERBEAZTAVRERMIESHZ
BIRAE -

REYNBE  RMBEELEIENNE
\#'%ﬁﬁﬁ&ET@Wfﬁ:&$%

WM@%ETﬁfﬁﬂ&‘ﬂLﬁ

BATERERER HOREARETE
B RE A REME - BREER
DPHRRERNTE -

Ry (BEAT)
SEVTESHEAMNBEEETY SEER
EENBERDERRERETHRABRS
#)5E (38) - BHEEE THEARMIBT -
HEREUREENEERBEINSAE - 3
HERFREAMTRE

SENEREFEREENRAEREFR
BT ERN LET - RELHEIRE
HE-AEFETEBRAREMERNH
BEERER -

ERER(BHA2) REERXAER (B
HA3)
ZAREERERNBAER - SEAE
BAKBTHRABENRAET  BAN
FRZEER AAFEEERREBRE
ERLHRENTE - ﬁﬁg@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
TEAREFER  SARMNXKER -

EAERSERRAE -fln REETH
THEE  FRERAIERDZINTHENE
B B EEMAELRERE - ERER
ERERASEBRIERORE -




ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Within the Group, many business processes were implemented
to improve efficiency and to reduce paper usage. We promote
electronic statements through email for all types of business
within our Group. We also implemented paperless data system
which facilitate the storage, retrieval and management of
documents. This system allows staff to retrieve documents
efficiently and reduces paper usage as the documents can be
viewed on screen.

The Group also actively participates in recycling schemes. Old
computers, printers, and toner cartridges are returned to
suppliers. In addition, an electronic platform is used within the
Group for internal administration and effective communication
with all staff at office. Except for the abovementioned, the Group’s
business has no direct impact on the environment and natural
resources other than the consumption of electricity and papers as
detailed above.

SOCIAL ISSUES

Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards (Aspect
B1, B2 and B4)

For financial services industry, our employees are the most
important asset that can drive the long-term development and
sustainability of the Group. To our employees, we provide benefits
including salaries, incentives, directors’ fees and contribution to
defined contribution retirement scheme. To safeguard employee’s
occupational health and safety, the Group provides a safe, healthy
and comfortable working environment.

In Hong Kong, the Group’s employment of staff is governed by the
Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance, as well
as the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance. The Group has no

known non-compliance with the above relevant regulations.
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS (PRACTISING)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Upbest Group
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set
out on pages 55 to 127, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31st March, 2017, and the consolidated income
statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
March, 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Key audit matter
BRENSEE

Valuation of investment properties

REMEZfHE

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
FLHRE P BRERME15-

The aggregate fair values of the Group’s investment properties as at
31st March, 2017 amounted to HK$1,396,000,000 representing 53% of
the Group’s total assets as at that date. The net increase in fair values
recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year ended 31st March, 2017 amounted to HK$150,000,000. The
Group’s investment properties, which are located in Macau, comprise
commercial and residential premises. The fair values of the Group’s
investment properties were assessed by the management based on
independent valuations prepared by an external property valuer.
RIZE—tF=A=+—0 SEZREMERFEL{ER1,396,000,000
BT HEREENEREERES% HBE-_T—+H&=-A=+—-HZ
FE2EKER FHIFATEFIEKR150,000,0008 T  KEZREMEL
ERRM  AREVMERETYEAN SEZREMERATENBER
EBRBEINEY E TR B 2 B ERT

We identified valuation of the Group’s investment properties as a key
audit matter because of the significance of investment properties
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements and because the
determination of the fair values involves significant judgment and
estimation, including selecting the appropriate valuation methodology
and market data.

RMRBREBRENENGEEABREZFTE RARREVEUERR
EUMBBRRCEENRDTELRAEESEANHAM KRG  OEEES
BRFHERERTISER -
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How our audit addressed the key aud'it
matter
BMMARERT EERRERSEE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation

of investment properties included the
following:
BAIREWE 2 hE 2 FHEFTERA 2 B%Efr
m

o evaluating the competence, capabilities,
objectivity and independence of the
external property valuer;
EEINEYE TR 2 BRRE - B2 B
M RBE

o evaluating the valuation methodology
used by the external property valuer
based on our knowledge for similar
types of properties;

RIB R AR DR R Y 3% 2 J 334 2 S
By R RE AR 2 s T0%

o discussing the valuations with the

external property valuer in a separate
private session and challenging key
estimates adopted in the valuations,
including those relating to market
selling prices, by comparing them
with historical rates and available
market data, taking into consideration
comparability and other local market
factors;
EINBY R AMETBEYHAMgR R
AT ERA 2 BB EEHETTRE - B
RZEHEMSEE BELERRA
AmSERELE  ZRIEALRE
REAMTISER

The valuer is a member of recognised
professional bodies for external valuers. We

found the valuation methodologies used to -

be in line with generally accepted market
practices and the key assumptions used were
within the range of market data. We also found
that disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements to be adequate.

AR ARINET MR EERIEBE G 8 - BN
ERERAZTEEE-—REX 2T HER X
FRBZBARBRIEDSEHOBER  HI
RIBERGER BRI BERS -
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Key audit matter
BRELEE

Impairment assessment of interest bearing loan receivable

B8 ) BB W R IRRUE RT

Money lending is a major operating segment for the Group. The
Group held mortgaged and personal loans to borrowers totaling
HK$401,000,000, less provision for impairment of HK$72,000,000, with
the net carrying value of HK$329,000,000 as at 31st March, 2017. It
represented 12% of the Group’s total assets, as at that date.
BEXBRAEETELENH R_T—+tF=A=+—H SEREX
ARBIRE R EA B KA ELMNO%O%%ﬁW@DO%O%%ﬁZW@
45 - FRARE(E /R329,000,0008 T MEREBEBEELE12% °

We identified the estimation of provision for impairment as a key audit
matter because of the significance of the receivable and the significant
judgement applied by the management in assessing the value of
collateral and the recoverable amount of individual impairment and
assumptions, applied by the management in the collective impairment
model to determine collective assessment of impairment.

RARBRER B RERERER  RERBRFEZERNERER
EfMEEARZEEREAARERAIRESEBREMEA 2 ERHE -
REARERAEREMRBIIEREASRENE LA -
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How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EMOARELRTRERRELSE

Our audit procedures for assessment of
impairment for mortgaged and personal
loans to borrowers classified as receivables
included:
BARDBRRKFIBZRBREASFREL
AEMRAzERREARRE

o understanding and testing the
key controls over the credit risk
management for on-going monitoring,
such as periodic review for
identification of any delinquency in
loans or interest repayment;

BRI SEEACERRER TR
EfE - BHME AT ABRIE R &5k
FBER

o examining the underlying
documentation supporting the value
of the collateral, if any, and the
management’s key estimations used in
the individual impairment assessment
for these loans and receivables on a
sample basis;
FEXHEAREEZRRER (WA)
REEREHELE TR KRB
(BT PTER A 2 RA SRt S 1T ORI -

o reviewing the estimated future cash
flows and the fair value of collateral for
all impaired amounts.
HETERERE - FEERKASRER
BERm2 RFE -

We found that adequate control procedures
had been exercised and management’s
judgment regarding the provision for
impairment of the mortgaged and personal
loans to borrowers for the financial year was
appropriate.

BAPBERRTBFEN B AERARERB R
BAAERZREERT RANEERF - FAEE
BEZABREE -
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wan Hing Chuen.

Li, Tang, Chen & Co.

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
10/F Sun Hung Kai Centre

30 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

23rd June, 2017
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March 2017 &£ -2 —-bE=ZH=1+—HIL4EH

= 8 W & ®

Note 2017 2016
(In HK$°000) (LBKFrBEN) B & ¥t ZTRE
Revenue g %5 7(a) 317,515 443,398
Cost of goods sold SHE AR (197,072) (346,741)
Other revenue H fth Y 75 697 2,959
Net increase/(decrease) in fair value of KEWENFEZ
investment properties FHECRD) 15 150,000 (3,000)
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair ~ #EAFERWZE R EZ
value through profit or loss MBEET RN, (BE) 4 2)
Provision of impairment loss 25 RYREREE
on trade receivables (net) % CFE) 19 (1,896) (6,585)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BENRE
equipment FTEXE 2% H 3 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B A Bl AT EE A 2 ) T 32 - 180,835
Gain on disposal of an associate HEHE QR FTELE 2 & F - 282,770
Loss on dissolution of subsidiaries MEBRRIRA &R - (84)
Administrative and other operating B REMEERE
expenses (30,345) (27,530)
Finance costs AR A 8 (160) (918)
Share of results of an associate FE(REE = N E 2 BE (4,662) (4,879)
Profit before taxation R 554 A v A 9 234,084 520,223
Income tax expense Figfi A X 12(a) (8,234) (2,022)
Profit for the year FRE 225,850 518,201
Attributable to: FE1S
Equity holders of the Company RARERFAA 225,867 518,309
Non-controlling interests IR 2 (17) (108)
225,850 518,201
Earnings per share FRER HK cents HK cents
A il
Basic and diluted ERREE 11 8.4 19.3
Dividend ’RE 13 48,282 40,235
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56 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
= 8 2 H B & X

For the year ended 31st March 2017 & E _-F—LE=H=+—HIL4FE

2017 2016
(In HK$°000) (LEMFTREN) =F—tF —E-RF
Profit for the year FRBEA 225,850 518,201
Other comprehensive expenses Ht2EHRX
ltems that may be reclassified BEERARETIER
subsequently to profit or loss Bm2IEE
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEEEEZ
translation of foreign operations fE N E%R (3,282) (2,476)
Other comprehensive expenses 2FEEMEAEMY
for the year, (net of tax) (& FE) (3,282) (2,476)
Total comprehensive income REXHWNELE
for the year 222,568 515,725
Attributable to: JEAG -
Equity holders of the Company ARRIEREAA 222,585 515,833
Non-controlling interests IR = (17) (108)
222,568 515,725

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RELMAERAF)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Fan é /E\ZI- Z% ;Ut 5R i-«% e
As at 31st March 2017 R —2—t&#&=H=+—H
Note 2017 2016
(In HK$°000) (LBKFrBEN) B & ¥t ZTRE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - BERRE 14 1,045 1,156
Investment properties BEME 15 1,396,000 1,246,000
Intangible assets B EE 16 2,040 2,040
Interests in an associate REE RN R 2 R 17 49,124 57,068
Available-for-sale financial assets A ENKEE 18 136 136
Trade and other receivables, deposits Z 5 N E M EWFIE
and prepayments ke MIEFRIE 19 97,756 42,399
Other assets Hin & E 20 5,200 5,200
1,551,301 1,353,999
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories "E 21 23 19
Properties held for development BEREYE 22 3,011 3,011
Trade and other receivables, deposits Z 5 N EMEWFIE
and prepayments e LI FRIE 19 614,677 634,512
Financial assets at fair value through BAFER =R
profit or loss ZUHBEE 24 110,000 -
Tax recoverable BEdEEE - 23
Bank balances and cash RITEHRRR S 23 361,876 388,565
1,089,587 1,026,130
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Borrowings BN 25 28,109 2,689
Amounts due to related parties FEREEE A T TR 26 2,923 2,930
Amount due to ultimate holding company &5 fx & 4% I A &) 5018 27 63,269 40,985
Creditors and accrued expenses f’éﬁmléi&féﬁ;%% 28 173,916 144,284
Provision for taxation Dt 1,759 662
269,976 191,550
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 819,611 834,580
NET ASSETS EEZRE 2,370,912 21881579
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58 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
= 8 B B R R X

As at 31st March 2017 A =2 —tE=H=+—H

Note 2017 2016
(In HK$'000) (LB T REN) B & =& +4F —E—RF
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRKf#E
Share capital A& A 29 26,824 13,412
Reserves & 30 2,296,347 2,135,456
Proposed dividend R A B 13 48,282 40,235
Equity attributable to equity RAREEFABA
holders of the Company JE(L#E = 2,371,453 2,189,103
Non-controlling interests EZlie £ (541) (524)
TOTAL EQUITY EEEE 2,370,912 2,188,579

The consolidated financial statements on pages 55 to 127 were H55F127TEZRAMBRRCEESZTGN -
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23rd  —tFEANA-+=A#ERRELZLFHTIE

June, 2017. ERREE -
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
12 R
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HITEE

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RELMAERAF)
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 &£ 2 —-bE=ZH =+ —HIL4EH

Note 2017 2016
(In HK$'000) (UEEFTRBEN) B 5E —E—tF —E-RE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEHK
Profit before taxation R 75 A 4 A 234,084 520,223
Adjustments for: BT &S BELAE
Interest expenses A E X H 160 918
Depreciation e 252 307
Provision of impairment B o5 RYGREREE
loss on trade receivables (net) BE(CFE) 19 1,896 6,585
Bad debts written off (net) RIFEME CFE) 587 807
Net (increase)/decrease in fair value RENELNTFEZ
of investment properties E(REER) /R (150,000) 3,000
Share of results of an associate LB E RNR 2 ¥R 4,662 4,879
Loss on dissolution of subsidiaries (S ENG): = = 84
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B A Rl PTE & 2 % F - (180,835)
Gain on disposal of an associate HEBEARMEE 2 - (282,770)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME K LEEMEE
equipment il (3) -
Operating profit before working RTEEESEBA 2
capital changes KR A 91,638 73,198
(Increase)/decrease in inventories BE2z0Em Hd (4) 2
Decrease in properties held BIEREWEZ
for development Nz - 77,992
Increase in trade and other receivables, ZHREMEWGIE  Re Rk
deposits and prepayments BRI RIE 232 (38,005) (333,981)
Increase in trust and segregated EAERIREEFOEGFE
accounts included in bank balances RIRITH 84 2 32 A0 (14,411) (14,069)
Decrease in amount due to an associate JE T B 2 R B 5RIB 2R - (728)
Increase in other loans HmBEH2Em 25,420 160
Decrease in amounts due to related parties  J& (< BB A + 218 2 5 4 (7) (4,773)
Increase/(decrease) in amount due JERf SRR A R FIBE 2
to ultimate holding company #m, G ) 22,284 (136,119)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors and ENFEREMNERZ
accrued expenses #m,/ G ) 29,632 (15,809)
Cash generated from/(used in) REXKEL/(ER)
operations ZHe 116,547 (354,127)
Interest paid BERFHE (160) (918)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BERNEBFER (5,532) (1,930)
Overseas tax paid B8N R (1,582) Z
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEREE/ (EA)Z
operating activities Be&FE 109,273 (356,975)

2017
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60 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
= a8 B 2 R B X

For the year ended 31st March 2017 & E _-F—LE=H=+—HIL4FE

Note 2017 2016

(In HK$'000) (LEBFTREN) i —E—+F —E—AF
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE MERLE

equipment (151) (317)
Proceed on disposal of property, HEME  BRELRED

plant and equipment FT{8 28 13 -
Investment in financial assets at fair value  # &R EATERKZE X

through profit or 10ss SRR 2 BB E (110,000) -
Proceed on disposal of subsidiaries HEHBRRIMNAMERIE 32 - 242,335
Proceed on disposal of an associate HEB S AR NG RE - 327,888
Net cash (used in)/generated from RETEH (ER) EEZ

investing activities BeFME (110,138) 569,906
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMETE
Dividend paid BERRE (40,235) (53,646)
New bank loans raised MIEITER 10,000 72,000
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (10,000) (85,000)
Net cash used in financing activities METHEAZREEE 0000 (40,235) (66,646)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN ReERBE2EBY2

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS F (R /12 (41,100) 146,285
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FYNzBREREE2EEY

AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 326,421 180,136
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEEGREAEZEEY

AT END OF YEAR 285,321 326,421
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BeRBEEZEEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERR 2 DT
Cash in hand, non-pledged short-term Be  FEREHERK

deposits and general accounts —RERITE O &k

included in bank balances 23 285,321 326,421

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RELMAERAF)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 61

For the year ended 31st March 2017 &£ -2 —-bE=ZH=1+—HIL4EH

Non-
Share Share Contributed  Capital Translation ~Retained ~Proposed controlling :
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve profits  dividend Total interests Total
(In HK8'000) (HBETTAES) Bx  RHEE EBARS ARG EXRG  REEN  RRRS a5t FERES @t
Balance as at 1st April, 2015 RZZ-REMA-RER 13412 317,696 8,515 (80) 685 1,332,962 53646 1,726,836 36,222 1763058
Profit/(loss) for the year Engil/ (i) - - - - - | [518,309 - | 518309 (108) | {518,201
Other comprenensive expense AEREMZERR
for the year
- exchange differences arising on -~ —REBNLEEL
translation of foreign operations ERzE - - - - (2.476) - - (2,476) - (2,476)
Total comprehensive income/ KERERE/ (BR)BE
(expense) for the year - - - - 2476) 518309 - 51583 (108) 515,725
Dissolution of subsidiaries B AR - - - 80 - - - 80 - )
Disposal of interest in subsidiaries ~ HEKBATER - - - - - - - - (3638) (3643
Dividend paid BNRE - - S = = = (63646)  (83,66) - (53,646)
Proposed dividend BERE = = = - - (4023 40,235 - - -
Balance as at 315t March, 2016 RZF-~E=A=1-H
b3 13412 317,69 8,515 - (1,791 1,811,036 40235 2,189,103 (524) 2,188,579
Profit/(loss) for the year ERgdl/ (BR) - - - - - || 225867 - | | 225867 (17) | | 225850
Other comprehensive expense AEEEMEERY
for the year
- exchange differences arisingon~~ —REBHEEEL
translation of foreign operations EREE - = = = (3282) - - (3282) - (3,282)
Total comprehensive income/ AE2ENE/ (A% 48
(expense) for the year - - - - (3282) 225867 - 2058 (1) 22568
Dividend paid BffRE = = = - - - (023%)  (40235) - (40,23
Bonus issue BEIK 1342 (1341) - = = = = = = =
Proposed dividend RERE = = = = - 4828) 4328 = = ="
Balance as at 315t March, 2017 RZE-+F=f=1-H
e 26,824 304,284 8,515 - (5,073 1,988,621 48282 2371453 (541) 2,370,912
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2.1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R M =

For the year ended 31st March 2017 & ZE =%

GENERAL

Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business is 2nd Floor, Wah Kit Commercial
Centre, 300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

As at the date of this report, CCAA Group Limited held direct
interest in 1,992,721,496 (2016: 996,360,748) shares of the
Company, representing approximately 74.29% (2016: 74.29%) of
the issued share capital of the Company.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. lIts
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of a wide
range of financial services including securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate
finance advisory, assets management, property investment and
precious metal trading.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional currency of the
Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

i) The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable

accounting principles generally

disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention except
that the investment properties and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are stated at fair value.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RELMAERAF)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 &£ -2 —-bE=ZH=1+—HIL4EH

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

i)

Basis of consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) for the year ended 31st March,
2017. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealized
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and
dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling
interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary

not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company.

2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a8 B OB | x KM O

For the year ended 31st March 2017 BE =F—LE=ZH=+—HILEHE

2.2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
PRESENTATION OF ‘FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group has adopted the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for acquisitions of

interests in joint operations
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Clarification of acceptable methods
of depreciation and amortisation
Annual Improvements to Amendments to a number of HKFRSs

HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity method in separate Financial
Statements
Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

UPBEST GRO LIM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 65
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 &£ -2 —-bE=ZH=1+—HIL4EH

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following amendments
and new or amended standards which are not yet effective for the
accounting period ended 31st March, 2017 and which have not
been early adopted in these consolidated financial statements:

23 CRMEHRERMZBEBUBEREER
EEAGAMBRRIHERS BEE
ATENAE 2B IA TERT R#T AT SEIERT
R - ERBE_F—+tF=A=1—H
Lttt HRERERTARZEG RS
HRIERHEN -

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 2
BRUBREEREIR SRT A2

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers?
BRI BREERFE155% REEREP 2 w2

HKFRS 16 Leases®

BN BREENE165 GiN-¢

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative’

ARG ERTHROELE THEE

Amendments to HKAS 12
B G EANRMELE
Amendments to HKFRS 2
BRI BREERE2HRAOEE

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BEEMBHREENE10R R EE G ER28HRME L

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, !

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses'

RARRERRAETEHEEE

Classification and Measurement of Share -based

Payment Transaction?

BRI EE X2 DR 82

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

REEEHABEDNARAECELMBEI T ABE

RITE—tF-A—RHz&RRZ

2017 FEHMER

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2 RIZZE-NF-RB—BmzERABZ
2018 FEHRAEXR

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, ¢ RIE-NFE-R-BgzERBEZ
2019 FEBREN

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be ¢ O REFERBSERHRNEE AR
determined.

The Group has been evaluating the impact of these new or revised
standards and amendments but not yet in a position to state
whether all these new or revised standards and amendments
would have a significant impact on the Group’s results of

operations and financial position.

AEB DG ZFH A R EET LR R
BRIZEE EHREEMBXIHI R
BETERREEHAREEERE R
BRRBEBERTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R M =

For the year ended 31st March 2017 & ZE =%

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of

these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

a)

Goodwill:

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary or an
associate represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the relevant subsidiary
or associate at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
is presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Capitalised goodwill arising on an
acquisition of an associate (which is accounted for using the
equity method) is included in the cost of the investment of the
relevant associate.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end
of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in the consolidated income statement. An
impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary or an associate, the

attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RELMAERAF)
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 &£ -2 —-bE=ZH=1+—HIL4EH

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

a)

b)

Goodwill: (Continued)

Excess of an acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of an
acquirer’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost (“discount on acquisitions”)

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary represents the excess of the net fair value of
an acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities attribute to the Group over the cost of the business
combination. Discount on acquisition is recognised, after
reassessment, immediately in the consolidated income
statement. A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition
of an associate or a joint venture is included as income
in the determination of the investor’s share of results of
the associate or joint venture in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

Property, plant and equipment:

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the assets to working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of
property, plant and equipment have been put into operation,
such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul cost, is
normally charged to the consolidated income statement in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted
in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to
be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and
equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional

cost of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 & E _-F—LE=H=+—HIL4FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

b)

c)

Property, plant and equipment: (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or fair value of
items of property, plant and equipment over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings
ME T RIETF

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
KA KRENRE 15% - 30%
Motor vehicles 15% — 30%
AE 15% — 30%

15% - 30%

The land and buildings elements of a lease of land and
buildings are considered separately for the purposes of lease
classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and buildings elements, in which
case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the
consolidated income statement in the year in which the item is
derecognised.

Investment properties:

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in the consolidated income statement for the period
in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use or no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the consolidated income statement in the year in which the

item is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 &£ -2 —-bE=ZH=1+—HIL4EH

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d)

Subsidiaries:

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in consolidated
income statement. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint
venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, the
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
losses.
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 BE =F—LE=ZH=+—HILEHE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

e)

Associates:

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale). Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets
and any impairment loss relating to the investment. Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the associates’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method together with the
Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee
at the date when significant influence is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset.

UPBEST GRO LIM
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 &£ -2 —-bE=ZH=1+—HIL4EH

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f)

9)

Intangible assets:

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired are
recognised at cost. After initial recognition, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in the consolidated income statement when
the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually by comparing their carrying amounts
with their recoverable amounts, irrespective of whether there
is any indication that they may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired.

Inventories:

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes cost of purchase computed using the
first-in-first-out method. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the sales proceeds of items sold in the ordinary
course of business after the end of the reporting period
or to management estimates based on prevailing market

conditions.
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 BE =F—LE=ZH=+—HILEHE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
h) Investments: h)

24 EXREHRBEE)

RE:

The Group classifies its investments in the following

categories: trade and other receivables, available-for-sale

financial assets, financial assets or liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss and loan receivables. The classification

depends on the purpose for which the investments were

acquired. Management determines the classification of

its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this

designation at the end of the reporting period.

AKBRREEBE D KATER
B 5 R EAM R - A H S
BE ROFERBSERIIKRHB
BEXABREKRER - DEIER
RREABBEZREBREN - EEER
MigkERHSERERE N E TR

+ Ay

wE

AEHFHEUDE -

i) Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit ) BAFERKZ XK EE
or loss: EZEE
At the end of the reporting period subsequent to KRR ERE 2 BEEER @ &
initial recognition, financial assets or liabilities at fair RN ERRERINE B EE
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, KBEDEAFENE  AFE
with changes in fair value recognised directly in the BYNELHRNEEREE KRGS
consolidated income statement in the period in which RIER - BRIFMTEMBEEERA
they arise. All derivative financial assets or liabilities are BEINEHR A BA—2%E
also categorised as financial assets or liabilities at fair RIEAFENEGERIE WS
value through profit or loss unless they are designated EEXEE-
as hedges.

ii)  Trade and other receivables: i) BZREMEWKE -

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. At the end of the reporting
period subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment

B REMBUFBRL RN
OB BB 2 T % MR B I E
EHABENRZIETERB
BE RS HIARZBEGERE
B B REMEETAERE
YR M) 2R 2K 5 R AR 1] A 38R

losses. An impairment loss is recognised in the REERIER BEXBERR
consolidated income statement when there is objective REEERE  BIRNGERER
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured NERREBE  WAEEZK

as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount
can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 &£ -2 —-bE=ZH=1+—HIL4EH

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREHHERBE (&)
(Continued)
h) Investments: (Continued) hy BE:(#)

i) Available-for-sale financial assets: i) AHRAEHEEE

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives AL ENBEERIINER
that are either designated or not classified as any of the B EwncetEoAaEMmER
other categories (set out above). (R EX) -
After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial ENFPERE  AEHLEHKE
assets are subsequently measured at fair value, EEBUAATEZ  RERWK
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other RRERRAHEEEERATE
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale assets REEAERSHEM2EKE B
fair value reserve until the investment is derecognised, EHBEERIUEER R 25T
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised m R BERNGR A W m R NER
in the consolidated income statement, or until the R L RER itk
investment is determined to be impaired, at which BERIHEEEEA T EREE
time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the BEGelarmamR -

consolidated income statement and removed from the
available-for-sale assets fair value reserve.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot fi3E LMk AESR 2 A ER )
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the BB AFEZEZEEHEHE
range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant MR EMEBEA(b)RAER
for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various ZR2HENS AT EMG 2 HE
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably REHEBTAATEmMAREER
assessed and used in estimating fair value, such FEHETE  ZERHFENAE
securities are stated at cost less any impairment losses. RERBERBEAR -

iv) Loan receivables: iv) EWE -
Loan receivables are non-derivative financial assets with W ER AW IENERTISRE
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in i EL A & T sk A] 8 FE 4 k2 FE 0T
an active market, including placements with banks and ERBEE  BERITREMH
other financial institutions, investment debt securities BREZER  BEERMZRE
without an active market and loans and advances to REBEREARNEPERLR
customers. Loan receivables are carried at amortised e [EWE TR B R F R A
cost using the effective interest method. SHB A o

i)  Properties held for development: i) BHEERRYE: -

Properties held for development are stated at the lower BIEERYWEHGUKRANERER FE

of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is ZBIRETR - B FEDBERR

determined by reference to sale proceeds received after EHREHNERNKREEBRAZME

the end of the reporting period less selling expenses, or IR IS BT E L 2 RSP LA iR

by management estimates based on prevailing market T °

conditions.
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 & E _-F—LE=H=+—HIL4FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i)

Properties held for development: (Continued)

Costs of properties include acquisition costs, development
expenditure, interest and other direct costs attributable
to such properties. The carrying values of properties held
by subsidiaries are adjusted in the consolidated financial
statements to reflect the Group’s actual acquisition costs
where appropriate.

Properties held for development included in the current
assets are expected to be realised, or is intended for sales in
the Group’s normal operation cycle.

Impairment of assets:

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

In case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale
financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the equity securities below their cost is considered in
determining whether the securities are impaired. Impairment
losses recognised in consolidated income statement on
equity securities are not reversed through consolidated

income statement.
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 &£ -2 —-bE=ZH=1+—HIL4EH

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k)

Income tax expense:
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years,
current tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Deferred taxation is recognised on all temporary differences
at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences except where the deferred tax liabilities
arise from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax assets
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward
of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be
utilised except where the deferred tax assets relating to
the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to

be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
sufficient future taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.
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76

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREHHEBEE)

(Continued)

k) Income tax expense: (Continued) k) FiE% : (#)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax BRI IB AR EHRETH
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the BYE FETHRR(HFE)£EAE
assets are realised or the liabilities are settled, based on tax FEREENRERNTEANE - &
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively IEEIETT IB B At U A o B R AR
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred taxation mAERNIEE M BEUHBAT
is recognised in the consolidated income statement, ELRBETEEME2EREXEEZR
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other BEAER  SREERELGE K
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the mR AR o
deferred taxation is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

) Borrowing costs: ) BEKE:
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, B  BRENEEREREE (%E
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are CEREETARESREA TREET
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get BasiHE) EREEa@ZEER AN
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of AEREBEZKE BEZZEE
these assets until such times as the assets are substantially BRAPDEBAEBRTERAEKHE
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income Bl -BRIEBENAERBEZRER
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings EERRNBTERE TS R & B
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted BZRERA  REERERLZE
from the borrowing cost eligible for capitalisation. BRI o
All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated FrE BB ERARE £ 2 BRI A
income statement in the period in which they are incurred. REWERA o

m) Foreign currency translation: m) SEBRE:

i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

i) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the-dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

) DERERENIIERE
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXSHURBE (&
(Continued)
m) Foreign currency translation: (Continued) m) HNEBRE : (F)
iii)  Group companies i) FEEZLAE]
The results and financial positions of all the Group’s AEBETHEAR 2R
entities that have a functional currency different from MBRNFIREEE  HEERN
the presentation currency are translated into the AR BRI T AR AR
presentation currency as follows: gk
a) assets and liabilities for each of the statement a) EUMBRREMIZEE
of financial position presented are translated at REBERMBMRAREH
the closing rates at the date of that statement of ZHmERRE

financial position;

b) income and expenses for each of the income b) BWERMI2WEZIEF
statement are translated at average exchange HERBE (BRIEKTY
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable fEXRENABHBIER
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates MRXZHHERERY 2
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case AARE EHBRT WK
income and expenses are translated at the dates of FRER 5 H 2 E iR
the transactions); and )Rk

c) the resulting exchange differences are recognised c) AUMEAZEREZSRE
in other comprehensive income and accumulated Hth 2 H W e PR
in the exchange reserve. R 25t o

n) Financial guarantees issued, provision and contingencies: n) FEHNBBER BERIA:
i) Financial guarantees issued ) BB B ER

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the MBERDERETA (BER

issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to N RERZ=A(HEAD

reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) BEEEBAREREEEIAN
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor KRR IMEZNE
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the K mEFEE A NEERERN

terms of a debt instrument. BH o

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair i A5 B3 B ISR - ZER

value of the guarantee (being the transaction price, BATERIRZER BRIFEZ

unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) N EREEE M M) X BER
is initially recognised as deferred income within trade RAEMSERREMES KA
and other payables. Where consideration is received TN o MIEBAT BRI
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the sk R B - ZRERIRIE
consideration is recognised in accordance with the HRERNZEEENAEBESR -

Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. i I 4% 2 Y BR ok AT Y BR B 5%

Where no such consideration is received or receivable, RE  RRVERTAELTRA

an immediate expense is recognised in the consolidated B RIS RGE RN

income statement on initial recognition of any deferred o :

income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

n) Financial guarantees issued, provision and contingencies:
(Continued)
i) Financial guarantees issued (Continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in the consolidated income
statement over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised if and when it becomes probable that
the holder of the guarantee will call upon the Group
under the guarantee, and the amount of that claim on
the Group is expected to exceed the amount currently
carried in trade and other payables in respect of that
guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.

Provisions and contingencies

A provision is recognised when there is a present
obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past
event and it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed
regularly and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is
material, the amount of a provision is the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so the outflow is probable, it will then be
recognised as a provision.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue recognition:

0)

P)

q)

i)

i)

Commission and brokerage income, placement and
underwriting commission, management and handling
fees, corporate finance advisory fees and investment
management fee and performance fee are recognised
when the services are rendered, the amount for which
can be reliably estimated and it is probable that they will
be received.

Interest income is accrued, on a time proportion basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective rate applicable.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the period of the respective leases.

Sale of precious metal is recognised, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group
maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership; nor effective control
over the goods sold.

Operating lease:

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards

of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified
as operating leases. Receipts or payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the

lessor) are credited or expensed in the consolidated income

statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Related parties:

a)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

i) has significant influence over the Group; or

iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or the Group’s parent.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties: (Continued)

b) An entity is related to the group if any of the following

q)

conditions applies:

)

vi)

vii)

viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of a same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit or employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

r

s)

t)

Cash and cash equivalents:

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

Segment reporting:

Operating segments, and the amount of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Employees benefits:

The Group participates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) which is
available to all employees. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
by the Group and its employees are calculated based on
a percentage of employees’ relevant income. The Group’s
contributions to the fund are expensed as incurred and the
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administrated fund.

Payments to the Group’s MPF Scheme are charged to the
consolidated income statement as they fall due.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group did not use any critical accounting
estimates in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Impairment loss on trade receivables

The policy for impairment loss on trade receivables of the
Group is based on the evaluation of collectability, aging
analysis of accounts, the values of underlying collaterals and on
management’s judgment. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of those clients in default of settlement. If the financial
conditions of debtors and their ability to make payments worsen,
additional impairment loss may be required.

Estimated fair value of investment properties

The fair values of investment properties are determined at the
end of the reporting period by an independent professional
valuer. Valuations were made on the basis of either, investment
approach by capitalizing the net rental income receivable from the
existing tenancies and the reversionary rental income potentials,
and residual approach by referencing to its development potential
by deducting costs and developer’s profits from its estimated
completed development value. These methodologies are based
upon estimates of future results and a set of assumptions as
to income and expenses of the property and future economic
conditions.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity reserves
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising mainly
issued share capital, other reserves and retained profits.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Certain subsidiaries of the Group are regulated by the Securities
and Futures Commission (the “SFC”), and a subsidiary which is a
member of the Chinese Gold and Silver Exchange (“CGSE”), they
are required to comply with certain minimum capital requirements
according to the rules of the SFC and the CGSE.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

EXEBER (&)
AREETHEBARRESRMEEHESR
ZEg((REg) L RHHBARAER
XESL e REBHGICEEMEE
ZERRAKBEEEREREEFH L
RABTETREERER

ARREZBFFEHENER - BHE
ARREEZERE —BHIEAKA KA
R AEERBEFZREZEBREIK
BERBOIHBRATELHELRES -

B TIESHE
REERREEHBIAZKREENT :

2017 —E—tF
Financial assets BKEE
(In HK$'000) (LB FrBEN) 2017 2016
Loan and receivables, at amortised cost REERAAR ZER
K JEW 8
Trade and other receivables and deposits ZHREMEUFIBRIEZS 711,666 676,473
Other assets HiEE 5,200 5,200
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRR S 361,876 388,565
1,078,742 1,070,238
Available-for-sale financial assets, at cost AEHETKEE - A 136 136
Financial assets at fair value through BAFERERRINEZ
profit or loss B EE 110,000 =
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84

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued) 5. BIEIEBEDHE(E)
Financial liabilities Bkas
(In HK$'000) (LB F T RBEN) 2017 2016
At amortised cost g R i | DN
Borrowings BN 28,109 2,689
Amount due to related parties FEN B A TR 2,923 2,930
Amount due to ultimate holding company B SEIERA 7 1A 63,269 40,985
Creditors and accrued expenses JE 5 518 K FE A B A 173,916 144,284
268,217 190,888

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

a)

Financial risk factors:

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise trade and
other receivables, deposits, other assets, bank balances and
cash, available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, borrowings, amounts due to
related parties, amount due to ultimate holding company and
creditors and accrued expenses.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 6. UHERETEBEERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
a) Financial risk factors: (Continued)

a) HM¥EBREZ: (&)

i) Credit risk ) EEEE
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the AEEBMEZEERR RS2
risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts B A EEE ST A E BEN
in full when due. Impairment provisions are provided RIEZRR - RBmERREEE
for losses that have been incurred by the end of the ZEE (A ) HiRBREERE -
reporting period, if any. The Group is responsible for RAEBEEEEER M BHE
monitoring the amount of credit exposure to any financial ZIEERRK -
institution.
The concentration risk to major customers is set out in TZERPEHERENEEUH
note 7 (b)(iii) on the consolidated financial statements. R MTEE7(D)FRH -

i) Liquidity risk i) EEEZEE

The Group invests in unlisted securities which are
designated as available-for-sale financial assets. Those
unlisted securities may not be traded in an organised
public market and may be illiquid. As a result, the Group
may not be able to liquidate quickly its investments
in these instruments at an amount close to their fair
value in order to meet its liquidity requirements or to
respond to specific events such as deterioration in
the creditworthiness of any particular issuer. Prudent
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient
cash and marketable securities, the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of credit facilities
and the ability to close out market positions.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For
non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of the
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes

both interest and principal cash flows.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 6. UHKRAKREEEEREE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
a) Financial risk factors: (Continued) a) HEEREE: (#)
i) Liquidity risk (Continued) i) REEZEE(E)
Weighted
average Total
effective Carrying  contractual
interest rate amount  undiscounted  Repayable on Less than
perannum at 31stMarch  cash flows demand Tmonth  1-3 months
NEYH RZA=t-B SHERN)  ARBHER
ERERE REE BeRegH f& FE-fif  -E=fR
% HK§000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 1000 HK$ 1000
2017
Borrowings [Ex 16-25 28,109 (28,109) (28,109) - -
Amounts dug to related parties EREBALHE - 2,023 (2923) (2,923) - -
Amount due to Ultimate holding
company ERSRERAAHE - 63,269 (63,269) (63,269) - =
Creditors and accrued expenses ,,m /\Mﬁ%ﬁ - 173,916 (173,916) (173,916) - -
268,217 (268,217) (268,217) - -
216
Borrowings CE 25 2689 (2,689) (2,689) - -
Amaunts due to related parties ERERALIE - 2930 (2930) (2930) - -
Amount due to Ultimate holding
company ER&RERAATE - 40985 (40,985) (£0,985) = -
Creditors and accrued expenses ,Fsiﬁ%@&m%ﬁ - 144,284 (144,284) (144,284) - -

190,888 (190,888) (190,888) - -

iii)  Interest rate risk i) FEE
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the AEEzNEREREEAEER
Group’s borrowings from financial institution, other BB ER  EMER - /17
loans, bank deposits, interest-bearing loan receivable T WEFNSEEEFRRFR
and margin client receivables. BEPEWRATES -
The majority of the borrowings bear interest at interest ABHRITERFIS2REBR
rates with reference to the HIBOR whereas loans to TRERE  MERTEFPHME
customers bear interest at interest rates with reference SREBENE - AREFTER
to the prime rate. As the prime rate in Hong Kong BENEER FREBRITRAE
basically changes in line with the HIBOR, the Group’s KERH B ASBEEMS
exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates MEFHRMBEM
is minimal.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

B LS E I

BHEREERRRBE (F)

a) Financial risk factors: (Continued) a) HEEBREZ: (#)
iii)  Interest rate risk (Continued) i) I E R ()
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRITAE BB AR (8
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all Eﬁ&iﬁ‘lﬂam Bt & F S Bk
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before PR ERRBRATE) A
tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings, %.%wffﬂ AREEBEN
interest-bearing accounts receivables, loans and REMEMA MR BRI T -
advances) and the Group’s equity.
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in Increase/
(decrease) in profit before (decrease)
basis points taxation in equity
HEZC  BREEFZ - fnypd
(In HK$'000) (LB FTREN) @/ Ohd)  #mORL)  #mGRA)
2017 ZE-tF
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 3,502 3,108
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) (3,502) (3,108)
2016 ZE-REF
Hong Kong dollars B TT 50 3,809 3,410
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) (3,809) (3,410)
iv)  Foreign currency risk iv)  SNEE
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily FEEAZ  ERRREERB
through transactions which gives rise to bank balances RGUAINE 2| RITEE A RAE
and borrowings that are denominated in a foreign ARG EEEB L NEE
currency, i.e. a currency other than functional currency BN EME - BBUEER
of the operations to which the transactions relate. The BREREEREZT([ERT])
currency giving rise to this risk is primarily United States
dollars (“USD").
Since USD are pegged to Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”), B EEEETT ([HBT]) 84 -
the Group considers risk of movements in exchange FEERAGRABETRETEE
rates between the HKD and USD to be insignificant. RENVMARE - AW ARBH
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis with respect to USD TR BREDITES
is presented.
b) Fair values: b) AFEMEE:

Fair value of financial instruments carried amount at other
than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost are not materially different from their fair
values as at 31st March, 2017 and 31st March, 2016.
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7. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WRREESHER
a) Revenue: a) W
(In HK$'000) (LB FTREN) 2017 2016
Ccommission and brokerage income BHER B REL
from securities broking ViEkALON 7,492 12,340
Commission and brokerage income HELELE 2 Re kgl
from futures broking AekA 896 1,449
Interest income from BB AR
- margin clients —FEEF 11,715 10,796
- money lending —EXRE 51,644 37,128
~ financial institutions and others — B TS N B At 2RIR 3,435 5,334
Management and handling fees EREFEE 968 1,698
Ccommission for subscribing new shares REFTRES 232 11
Placement and underwriting commission RERBERE 14,822 27
Investment management fee REERE 2,468 2,726
Rental income HE W= 24,557 24,663
Sales of precious metal EcBHE 197,462 347,226
Performance fee =EMe 1,824 -
317,515 443,398

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
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7. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WBEREENHEN (B)
(Continued)
b) Operating segment information: b) EEFBER :
i) Reportable operating segments ) EHEED
For management purposes, the Group is currently HEERE  ARERBEREE
organised into business units based on their products o R IR B EE BB H AT A+
and services and has seven reportable operating E2REEDH - 2RI REL
segments namely broking, financing, corporate finance, M oXBE AEEE D
assets management, property investment, precious FRE - ReBEERRAR
metal trading and investment holding. B -
Reportable operating segments are as follows: EHEESHWT
Broking Securities brokerage and i ‘AR RER
futures brokerage &
Financing Securities margin financing A1 1% B ITRBMER
and money lending B
Corporate finance Corporate finance advisory, EX®ME CXBABRR-
placing and underwriting -5 &k
Assets management  Assets management for listed AEERE  RLWMEIELD
and unlisted companies and RAIRBEE
high net worth individuals AE R
BEER
Property investment Property rental and related MERE ESN -GN
dealing E
Precious metal trading ~ Precious metal trading E4BEE =cEEER
Investment holding Share investments REER  BOHKRE
An analysis of segment information of the Group on AEERZZREESBREE
these reportable operating segments for the years s el =t
ended 31st March, 2017 and 31st March, 2016 is as —A"EZA=t—-BLFEZS
follows: BERIIT
(In HK$'000) (LERFrrBEN) 2017 2016
Segment revenue 7 AP U g5
Broking &1 9,359 15,186
Financing B % 64,539 49,326
Corporate finance hERE 15,054 38
Assets management BEEERE 4,293 2,726
Property investment MERE 26,764 28,848
Precious metal trading E4BER 197,506 347,274
Investment holding % & R = -
317,515 443,398
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REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WRREEIBER(H)
(Continued)
b) Operating segment information: (Continued) b) BEoHEN: ()
i) Reportable operating segments (Continued) ’) EHEEDH (F)
(In HK$'000) (KBEETTREN) 2017 2016
Segment results DEELE
Broking &4 (328) 3,870
Financing 8% 55,317 42,937
Corporate finance PERE 11,421 31
Assets management BEERE 3,214 1,739
Property investment MERE 21,896 23,118
Precious metal trading E¢EBEE (930) (902)
Investment holding BEER = -
90,590 70,793
Net increase/(decrease) in fair KREMENTEZ
value of investment properties FE (D) 150,000 (3,000)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEN B AR FTESE 2 & F - 180,835
Gain on disposal of an associate HEBERRMEL 25 - 282,770
Loss on dissolution of subsidiaries KB 2 B fR B 2 518 - (84)
Bad debts written off (net) SR M OF ) (587) (807)
Provision of impairment loss on Z S ERRERR
trade receivables (net) BB (CFE) (1,896) (6,585)
Other revenue =g 639 1,180
Share of results of an associate EMMBENR 228 (4,662) (4,879)
Profit before taxation BR 754 A 4 234,084 520,223
Income tax expense FieRiFEx (8,234) (2,022)
Profit for the year F A A 225,850 518,201
Management monitors the results of the Group’s EREERIERANERZRLE
operating segments separately for the purpose of DE 2 E4E  MERBRATRR
making decisions about resources allocation and RRTERR - Al RBEIBRIEE
performance assessment. Segment performance is ¥ 2 R 26 F (A B B A
evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is HE) g

a measure of profit before tax.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RELMAERAF)
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7. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEREEDHER (F)
(Continued)
b) Operating segment information: (Continued) b) E2WEESIW: (&)
i) Reportable operating segments (Continued) ) EHEEZE(E)
An analysis of segment information of the Group on AEERZEZEREESBNE
these reportable operating segments for the years BDearae= BIE (g e
ended 31st March, 2017 and 31st March, 2016 is as E-RE=ZA=+—HIEFEZ
follows: DEEMSHET :
Segment assets Interests in an associate  Unallocated corporate assets Consolidated
BENE REELAR2ER ToELEEE &a
(HK$1000) (WERTTAEN) 217 216 2017 2016 217 2016 217 2016
Assets BE
Broking &g 141,895 78,895 - = - = - =
Financing B 627,817 503,601 - - - - - -
Corporate finance tEpE - = - = - = - =
Assets management BEERE 4,631 2070 - - - - - -
Property investment NERE 1,656,186 1,673,338 49,124 57,068 = - = -
Investment holding RERR 3,011 3011 = - = - = -
Precious metal trading ESEEE 172,387 16,295 = - = - = -
Inter-segment elimination AR #HH (17,341) (12414 - - - - - -
Consolidated B4 2508586 226479 49,124 57,068 3,178 58265 2,640,888 2,380,129
Segment liabilities Interests in an associate  Unallocated corporate liabilities Consolidated
Ly REERR2ER FoEbEER &R
(HK$'000) (LEETTREN) 217 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Liabilities ff
Broking g 103,409 55,303 > - > - > -
Financing g 21,675 30,643 - - - - - -
Corporate finance tERE - = - = - = - =
Assets management AEEE 75 73 = - = - = -
Praperty investment nERE 98,681 51,070 = - = - = =
Investment holding RERR 1] 73 = - = - = -
Precious metal trading REBEE 3,375 2990 = - = - =
Inter-segment elimnation AR (17,341) (12414) - - - - -
Consolidated 24 209,947 127738 = - 60,029 63812 269,976
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7. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEKkEESBER(E)
(Continued)
b) Operating segment information: (Continued) b) EHREEI: (&
i) Reportable operating segments (Continued) ) ZHEELH(E)
Provision of
impairment loss on trade Bad debts written off/
Capital expenditure Depreciation receivables - net (recovery)
ESREAAERR
BREX & BE-3E SEME/ (KE)

(HK$'000) (WEETFLBEN) 2017 216 2017 216 2017 216 2017 216
Other segment information ~ Ef 5 & #

Broking &g 151 314 144 180 - = = 3
Financing g = - 87 106 1,896 6,925 587 810
Corporate finance hEEE - - - - - - - -
Assets management BEERE - - - - - 60 - -
Property investment nERE - - 20 2 - - - -
Investment holding RERR - - - - - - - -
Precious metal trading E4BEE = 3 1 1 - - _ _
Inter-segment elimination A ERHEH - = - = - = - =
Consolidated e 151 317 252 307 1,896 6,985 587 807

i) Geographical information
The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong
Kong, Macau and People’s Republic of China. The
Group’s administration is carried out in Hong Kong.

i) AR
FEBEEEFTEMRES R
PFIkAEARLEME - AEE 2
TR EEET -

TREHRAEBRIE TSI
BEPRED N RIRZEEME
wEZIFFRBEEDN (A
EMBEE - BHREMBKR
B R RANFERAMMEE
BRSM) ©

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from external customers by geographical
market and analysis of non-current assets by the
geographical location in which assets are located other
than available-for-sale financial assets, trade and other
receivables, deposits and prepayments and other
assets.

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets

REMBEE 2 W ERBEE
(In HK$°000) (BB T TAEN) 2017 2016 2017 2016
Hong Kong BB 290,020 414,351 2,465 2,555
Macau SR P 27,495 29,047 1,396,620 1,246,641
People’s Republic R EE AR A E
of China = = 49,124 57,068
317,515 443398 1,448,209 1,306,264
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7. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEREEDHER (F)
(Continued)
b) Operating segment information: (Continued) b) EREENE: (&)
iii)  Information about major customers i) FEEFEH
The Group’s five largest customers accounted for FEBCREARREEHAER
in aggregate approximately 70% (2016: 82%) of the EBWETO% (ZE—NF:
Group’s revenue. 82%) °
Revenue from customers of the Group for the year HE_Z—tF=RA=+—HIt
ended 31st March, 2017 contributing over 10% of the FEEPWRRMEAER B K
total revenue of the Group is as follows: 10%A E2F ¢
2017 2016
(In HK$'000) (LB FTREN) —E—iF —E-REF
Customer A’ EFA 188,652 344,117
Note: Kt -
1 Revenue from the above customer was generated from i NEEPUGZRERESEE
precious metal trading segment. HHHE -
FINANCE COSTS 8. EMEMRK
(In HK$'000) (UEETFTiREN) 2017 2016
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts BOERREZFISHAL 51 806
Interest on other loans, wholly repayable HEMmERFERAY
within five years REFHNEBEEE 109 112
160 918
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9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. KREFANRER
Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging and B AR A 2 R RET AT AR I8 ¢

crediting the following:

(In HK$'000) (WEBTFTREN) 2017 2016
Charging: Bk -
Auditors’ remuneration % BED B 2
- current year —RFE 648 608
— underprovision in prior year —AIFERETR 12 192
660 800
Staff costs BTARA
- salaries, bonuses and other benefits —He  TAREMET 14,004 13,831
— contributions to retirement schemes —RIRETEI 2 R 449 4483
14,453 14,279
Depreciation e 252 307
Bad debts written off (net) R CFE 587 807
Operating leases rentals in respect HEME LEHERS
of rented premises 1,216 1,636
Loss on dissolution of subsidiaries (o= ! = 84
Crediting: BEtA:
Rental income from operating leases KERER S WA RS H
less outgoings (gross rental income: (F& WA 4a%8 : 24,556,000/ 7T
HK$24,556,000 (2016: HK$23,510,000)) (ZZ—7"F : 23,510,000 L)) 22,385 21,669
Dividend income from unlisted investment — 3F F R & 7 R E WA 8 8

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RELMAERAF)
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S J 10. EEREREEEME
REMUNERATION
a) Directors’ emoluments: a) EZHe
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31st REENHE_T—t+E=A=+—
March, 2017 is set out below: BIEFEZME&EH0T :
Basic
salaries,
housing Discretionary
henefits, bonuses
other and/or
allowances  Retirement performance- Compensation Inducement
and benefits benefits related forloss  for joining
Fees inkind contributions  bonuses of office  the Group Total
ERge
EERA RiEwL nE
ERER R4 k/3% 15E
(In HK$000) (AT A El) e BUNE  BAMR BNEA  ERER bA 1| gt
Non-executive clrectors: FHTES:
Mr. Ip Man Tin, David Bexha 50 - - - - _ 50
Mr. Sze Ping Fat AL 50 - = - - - 50
Executive directors: #i7ES:
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie BERME - 813 % 19 - - 658
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew BRfeiE - 255 13 19 - - 27
Mr. Mok Kwal Hang ERfrE - 1470 - 12 - - 1,592
Independent non-executive BUEHIES:
directors:
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan Br&rd 50 - - - - - 50
Mr. Poon Kai Tik EREEE 50 - - - - - 50
Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan FEEE 50 = = = = = 50
250 2338 3 160 = = 2,787
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10. EEREAEEEMNE. (&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) a) EEME(E)
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31st BEENEBE-_Z—~"EF=ZA=1+—
March, 2016 is set out below: HIEFEZM&E0T ¢
Basic
salaries,
housing Discretionary
benefits, bonuses
other and/or

allowances  Retirement performance- Compensation  Inducement
and benefits benefits related forloss — forjoining

Fees inkind  contributions bonuses of office  the Group Total
ERES-
RERA Kigia ma
e R RIR k/% 5B
(In HK$'000) (ABETTAER) we  EWAE  BAER  BARL  BEEE LB @it
Non-executive directors: FHAES:
Mr. Ip Man Tin, David EEALE 50 - - - - - 50
Mr. Sz Ping Fat BmEEE 50 - - - - - 50
Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen® BEs L 37 - - - - - 37
Executive directors: #7ES:
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie BEBE - 945 27 19 = = 991
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew BimEs - 264 13 19 - - 2%
Mr. Mok Kwai Hang ERELE = 1,434 = 119 = = 1,553
Independent non-executive BUEHTES:
directors:
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan Rrgid 50 - - - - - 50
Mr. Poon Kai Tik B 50 - - - - = 50
Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan SO 50 - - - - _ 50
27 2,643 40 157 = = 3127

(" Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen resigned on 1st January, 2016 n ENEEEER-ZE—RNE—H—HEE-
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10.

11.

REMUNERATION (Continued)
b) Details of emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
(including directors and other employees) are:

ESREREEEMNS (F)

b) EEBSHFHAL BEESRE
BE) 2 e

(In HK$°000) (BB TFrREN) 2017 2016
Fee we - -
Basic salaries EX%Fe 4,052 4,093
Housing benefits, other allowances FEERH - Hi2ah
and benefits in kind REYH &= - =
Retirement benefits contributions BARBRHR 80 79
Discretionary bonuses and/or BIBTEA &/ B BAEA
performance-related bonuses 305 285
Compensation for loss of office BERES (B = -
Inducement for joining the Group MBREE 2 KZE) = -
4,437 4,457

For the year ended 31st March, 2017, two (2016: two) of the
five highest paid individuals were executive directors of the
Company, whose emoluments are included in note 10(a).

Analysis of the emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals (including directors and other employees) by
number of individuals and emolument ranges is as follows:

RZZE—tF=A=+—BLFE "
AEEEHEMALETRE (ZT—X
FMB)BEARERITES  FEZ
e 2 &HRKFE10(a)

IEBRRFMAL (BRESRAME
B)RABEMEBEDFTEIIMT :

2017 2016

Nil to HK$1,000,000 251,000,000/ 7T 4 4

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001} 7T % 1,500,0003% 7T - -

HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% Z£2,000,0003% 7T 1 1
EARNINGS PER SHARE 1. ka7

The basic earnings per share is based on the Group's profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$225,867,000 (2016: HK$518,309,000) and the number of
2,682,316,758 (2016: 2,682,316,758) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2017
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JIE {5 7K & B 3% | #9225,867,000/8 7T (=&

— 78 1 518,309,0008 0) R AFEE % -

17 % 8 R 2,682,316,758% (=& — N & -
2,682,316,7580%) 5T & -

ARRYELEEHERE 2 EBBRFHR -
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

12. FIEHBX

a) Income tax expense in the consolidated income statement a) mEKWBERZFABREXE:
represents:
(In HK$'000) (BB FTREL) 2017 2016
Hong Kong profits tax BEBEH
— Current year - KEE 6,893 2,109
— overprovision in prior year —RIFEBERE (241) (87)
6,652 2,022
Overseas tax paid B &g INRIE 1,582 -
8,234 2,022
b) i) Provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made b) i) FEMBHINEFARERE
at the rate of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) on the estimated B2 R R UER B M iR B R
assessable profit for the year. 16.5% (ZZ—7NF : 16.5% ) &
1 o
i) No provision for overseas taxation has been made as the i) BREIHBEZRBEITEK
amount is insignificant. B Ut 3 R SR A o
c) Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the c) FFEEMEHAXAIERESRRERZ
profit before taxation per the consolidated income statement BRAEAT R N E BRI T -
as follows:
(In HK$'000) (L BB FLRER) 2017 2016
Profit before taxation Bk %% A 7 234,084 520,223
Tax at the statutory income tax rate REEMBEHE16.5%
of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) (ZF—7"F :165%)sTE2HE 38,624 85,837
Tax effect of net (increase)/decrease BEMERATEZFBR) /B
in fair value of investment properties MHKE 2 (24,750) 495
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue TERB MENTBT 2 (6,307) (82,060)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TENR ZHATMBREY & 1,517 3,355
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary AERNERUEZENTEYE
differences 263 (19)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERZTEEENHEYE 244 171
Utilisation of tax losses previously FERUNERERHEER
not recognised (2,699) (5,849)
Overprovision-n prior year AEEEREEE (241) (87)
Overprovision in current year KEERBESE 1 179
Overseas tax paid B &8N IR 1,582 -
Income tax expense FEHREX 8,234 2,022
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) ' 12.. FiBHAX (&)

d) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had d RESHRA FAKEFAHREH
unutilized tax losses of approximately HK$7,102,345 (2016: AREZRHREMNZADETEEE
HK$20,417,000) available for offsetting against future taxable 1B #7,102,3458 L (ZE — RN ¢
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the 20,417,000 7T) ° BRRALTRBIARR
unpredictability of future taxable profits. The tax losses may JERBIGRF 2B AW ERERE
be carried forward indefinitely. ERBEE - WEEEAERRESE -

13. DIVIDEND 13. K&

(In HK$'000) (LB T REN) 2017 2016

Final dividend proposed of HK1.8 cents BRERBRE -FREAR 85

(2016: HK1.5 cents) per ordinary share (ZZ—RF  1.58() 48,282 40,235

The amount of the proposed final dividend for the year ended 31st BE_T—+E=-A=+—"BLEFEZE

March, 2017 of HK1.8 cents per ordinary share will be payable in FEAREAREATRIT BB - I A5 IA

cash and is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders el HERANBRTZBREBFKR

at the forthcoming annual general meeting. G ERGRRIER - FAEER -

2017
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - #ER%E
Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and Motor
buildings  equipment vehicles Total
HE KA EE

(In HK$'000) (BB TFTAZEN) THRETF e AE Bz
Net book value as at EHFE

1st April, 2015 (Note i) RZZE-—RFMA—HB(##) 660 300 186 1,146

Additions RE - 317 - 317

Written off b — . .

Depreciation e (20) (217) (70) (307)
Net book value as at BEFE

31st March, 2016 RZE-—R"F=ZA=1—H 640 400 116 1,156
At 31st March, 2016 RZE-—RE=ZRA=+—H

Cost A 900 6,185 1,382 8,467

Accumulated depreciation ZREWE (260) (5,785) (1,266) (7,311)

Net book value REFE 640 400 116 1,156
Net book value as at REFE

1st April, 2016 R-E-RENA-H 640 400 116 1,156

Additions nE - 151 - 151

Disposal HE - (10) - (10)

Depreciation e (20) (162) (70) (252)
Net book value as at REFE

31st March, 2017 R-ZE-—+t$=A=+-H 620 379 46 1,045
At 31st March, 2017 R-ZZ-t$=A=+-H

Cost D% 900 6,325 1,381 8,606

Accumulated depreciation ZBIE (280) (5,946) (1,335) (7,561)

Net book value REEE 620 379 46 1,045
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14. W% - BERZE (E)
Notes: Kzt -
i) The analysis of net book value as at 1st April, 2015 was as follows: ) RZE-—AFEA—-BZEREFEINN
T

Leasehold Furniture,

land and fixtures and Motor
buildings equipment vehicles Total
HE ®RAE-#B
(In HK$'000) (LB FrRE ) T REF 3 E PR
Cost XA 900 5,868 1,382 8,150
Accumulated depreciation RIEWE (240) (5,568) (1,196) (7,004)
Net book value BREFE 660 300 186 1,146
i) The total cost of property, plant and equipment disposed during the i) RAFEHEME BERZELEREH
year was approximately HK$12,000 (2016: HK$NIL). £12,0008 T (ZF—RF : THL) °
i)  The leasehold land and buildings are situated in Macau under i) REEAMEE L RAEFA R
medium-term lease.
15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REYE
(In HK$'000) (KB T TREN) 2017 2016
Fair value: ~NYE
At 1st April WA —H 1,246,000 1,249,000
Net increase/(decrease) in fair value AEEZEE/ (D) FEE
recognised in the consolidated RERE W e R ER
income statement 150,000 (3,000)
At 31st March R=A=+—8 1,396,000 1,246,000
The Group’s investment properties are situated in Macau and are AEBZHREMEMPNBRPIRIAF AL
held under medium-term lease. ¥A-
The Group leases out investment properties under operating FEENCEHERABLREDE -
leases.
The Group has pledged certain of its investment properties with AEBEERAETREMET —BRITE
aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$1,185 million (2016: RAKERRE-—RRITAEZER®
HK$1,066 million) to a bank to secure general banking facilities H 4R B4 A1,185,000,000/ 7T (=&
granted to the Group. — 734 © 1,066,000,000/8 7T) °

2017 e
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. REWE (&)
i)  Fair value hierarchy i) DAFEEER

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available

e |Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

TEREIAGEZEFUERR RS
MABREREMBRELERNF+ =5
AYEEHAERRE T Z=ALYE
BEERF  URTFEEFEAREALZ
REME - DY EEFERBESER
ZHEE - 2R TIEBETETE
BB BB ABRERBERIE:

o FIEBRE: REAFIEHAR
B EELYEE  ORFER
NEREEXBEEERMSZ
REHERE

o  F2EME:ERF2EHAZE
AEEAVEE BRENEH
B2 BRaAZERER
BEATABEGAZE - TAH
ERABBMSBEAREERME
28 ARE

o FIEMHE:NBAERTAE
EHBRAFERFEE

Fair value Fair value measurement
NYE NAVEBEHERRES
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In HK$'000) (WEEFTRERT) F1 FoRE F3E
Recurring fair value measurement ~ &FEU AT EEFE
2017 “E-tf
Investment properties REME
- Commercial - Macau —-HRA-—BM 1,185,000 - - 1,185,000
- Residential - Macau —fFE—BM 211,000 - - 211,000
2016 ZE-RE
Investment properties REME
- Commercial - Macau L A 1,066,000 = - 1,066,000
— Residential - Macau —fFE—BM 180,000 - = 180,000

During the years ended 31st March, 2017 and 31st March,
2016, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at
the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

BE_Z—+5=A=+—-BKZ-%
—ANF=ZRA=1T—HIEFEAR  F1E
HEEZHILRABY  ABAER
BHEEIE - ARBZHERRNRE
MARBRAVEESRZEMELZ
B -
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15.. REW (&)

ii) Valuation process i) FEBRE
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31st KEBR-_ZE—+F=A1 E+~EI)§
March, 2017 and 31st March, 2016 have been arrived at —EAFZAZt-HZEEYME
on the basis of a valuation carried out at that date by LCH BN (B TR 18 BB N B ¥ (AR A
(Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, independent qualified BITREMAERARFETZEBET
professional valuers not connected with the Group. IHEREE G EBMEZHE IR AR
Investment properties were valued on open market basis. T{EEREE -

iii) Valuation methodologies i) @ERE
Investment properties valuation was determined using the WEMELERBUT A ERETE

following approaches:

a) Income capitalisation approach a) WABRZE

In the valuation, the market rentals of all lettable units EEER  mEREHAEN
of the properties are assessed by reference to the NS HR2EHEERM
rentals achieved in the lettable units as well as other DA R R Bt 3 E A dE A W 2 9 FE 75
lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood. R ITEE o FTEE A E AL
The capitalisation rate adopted is made by reference R REHGEMERYE
to the yield rates observed by the valuers for the EHEOEN KR - WER
similar properties in the locality and adjusted based IHE S HEEDNEETREZNR
on the valuers’ knowledge of the factors specific to the HMFAR - SEGEEFEREKR
respective properties. The most significant unobservable Ao ERH ASELESAmEl
inputs into this valuation approach are monthly market S REBRNLEZE o

rent and the capitalisation rate.

b) Residual approach b) F&E

The residual approach is valued by referencing to R LR BB MENTERE S -
its development potential by deducting costs and WEREHEZREGETMERRE
developer’s profits from its estimated completed JEERER AR R A ER
development value. It relies upon a series of B pkEmEEMEL —Z5
assumptions made by the valuers which produce an R mESE R FEEBE NS ER
arithmetical calculation of the expected current sale B ERZEN TG BIERD
value as at the valuation date of the property being HEEE - LENSETEER
developed or held for development or redevelopment. A Bzt miEE B — X5 R& M
range of values may be attributable to the subject land F o

depending upon the assumption mode.

c) In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, c) MNEFMEZAFEER 5
the highest and best use of the properties is their current MEZEEREERARNARE

use. AT -

2017
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. REMZE (&)
iv) Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the iv) ATARREMEGEMRAZEER
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: EREFEGABBE 2HE
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Range
EEF % EXRFUBRGARE &=
2017 2016
Commercial properties Income capitalisation approach
ELik/ES WA E &AL
- shop Capitalisation rate 1.7 - 2.2% 2.5-3.0%
- A BARfH R 1.7 - 2.2% 2.5-3.0%
— carparking Capitalisation rate 1.7 -1.8% 1.7-22%
- B B R 1.7-1.8% 1.7-22%
Residential development Residual approach Discount rate 5% per annum 5% per annum
- EEER FIERA fR% 5%8 FE 5%BFE
16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. B EE
Trading rights in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Hong EERBMTIREERRM IR S
Kong Futures Exchange
(In HK$'000) (UEBTTiREL) 2017 2016
Cost at 1st April and 31st March, REA—BR=ZA=+—HZMKAE "
net of accumulated amortisation RETE KA RE 2,040 2,040
Cost (gross carrying amount) PR (BRI 42 18) 3,400 3,400
Accumulated amortisation 2t (1,360) (1,360)

Net carrying amount SRR E 2,040 2,040
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17. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE ' 17. REERR 2%
(In HK$'000) (LB TFTREN) 2017 2016
Unlisted investment, at cost FELEMRE - BEA 73,691 73,691
Share of post-acquisition profits less losses  JE/GUREE 1% 115k E5 18 18 4 7 (19,494) (14,832)
Exchange differences arising on translation #E/EINEEEL 7 EN =45
of foreign operations (5,073) (1,791)
49,124 57,068
The Group’s interest in its principal associate which is unlisted, AEBREFEMETEBE NG 2N
was as follows: S 8

Particulars Form of Percentage of
of issued business Place of effective interest
Name of associate shares held structure incorporation attributable to the Group  Principal activities
BEERM RBER AL AR
BENAEMR RAGHE i o B rEBEREREAL TEER
Quan Zhou Meiyu Registered capital Incorporated The People’s 30%  Property investment
Limited RMB60,000,000 Republic of China
RMEREXRBRRA i & A X PEAR NERE
AR #60,000,000 HAE

2017 e
Annual Report & & -
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17. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 17. REEE DR 2% ()
Summarized financial information of the material associate, EAVHEMENT HREZE 7%,
adjusted for any difference in accounting policies, and reconciled Rt RRERE L AENHEENG
to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, ZEWENT :

are disclosed below:

Quan Zhou Meiyu Limited
EMNEREXERAF

(In HK$'000) (KB T TREL) 2017 2016
Summarized statement of BT AR R E

financial position
Current assets TEEE 560,272 505,389
Non-current assets FERBEE 54,829 60,527
Current liabilities MEAR (370,207) (248,595)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (81,147) (127,096)
Equity 1 163,747 190,225
Summarized statement of Z2HEKERBE

comprehensive income
Revenue Wiz - -
Loss after tax BRii1ZEE (15,538) (15,342)
Other comprehensive income HEmzmias - -
Total comprehensive expense 2HEM B (15,538) (15,342)
Dividends received from associate B RNAlZRE - -
Reconcilied to the Group’s interest FEBREE LT

in the associate EEHENT
Net assets of the associate BENEEEFE 163,747 190,225
Group’s effective interest AEE B HER 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate REBE(GH & AR EEFE 49,124 57,068
Carrying amount in the consolidated REMBRECEEE

financial statements 49,124 57,068

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 18. AHHENKEE

(In HK$'000) (LB TTREN) 2017 2016
Unlisted equity investments, at cost FETRAZRE - HEHA 136 136
As at the end of the reporting period, the unlisted equity RBEBRR REAEAECFLTRA
investments, of which their fair values cannot be measured reliably, RERTEREAETER

are stated at cost.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RELMAERAF)
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 19. ESRHEMEWRIE - ZERBEMRE
PREPAYMENTS
(In HK$'000) (LEBF T iElr) 2017 2016
Amounts receivable arising from HEXEBZBLFRBERS
the ordinary course of business of JE W TR IE -
dealing in securities and options:
~ Cash clients -REER 37,577 9,779
— The SEHK Options Clearing —BRHREEERR LA
House Limited 2 2
- Hong Kong Securities Clearing —BAEFRREEFR AR
Company Limited 14,117 -
Amounts receivable arising from HEEXBZHEEARS
the ordinary course of business of e RIE
dealing in futures contracts:
~ Clearing house —EER 2,634 1,906
Amounts receivable arising from AREBZREESAFERE
the ordinary course of business JEHRIE
provision of securities margin financing:
- Clients (note) — &P (fs) 130,875 120,347
Amounts receivable arising from HEEB REESBR
the ordinary course of business e RIA
dealing in precious metal:
- Clients -BF 181 147
- CGSE - REE S 3 -
Interest-bearing loan receivables BB T 2 B M E 5K 401,544 412,931
Accounts receivables JiE Uk BR 3% 1,870 86
Other receivables H 4 W AR K 196,512 147 958
785,315 693,156
Less: Impairment loss on trade receivables 5 : B 5 E W ZRE KB (74,434) (72,538)
710,881 620,618
Deposits and prepayments Ze RENHIE 1,552 56,293
712,433 676,911
Portion classified as non-current assets DEAIERDEEILR (97,756) (42,399)
Portion classified as current assets DEARDEENR 614,677 634,512 -

107
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Note:  Margin client receivables after impairment loss of approximately
HK$128,258,000 (2016: HK$117,731,000) are repayable on
demand, bearing interest at market rate and secured by clients’
securities listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with a total
market value of approximately HK$191,307,000 as at 31st March,
2017 (2016: HK$318,681,000).

The settlement terms of cash and securities margin financing
clients arising from the business of dealing in securities are two
days after trade date, and of accounts receivable arising from the
business of dealing in futures contracts are one day after trade
date. No ageing analysis is disclosed as in the opinion of the
executive directors of the Company, the ageing analysis does not
give additional value in view of the nature of this business.

19.

SV ES RN

REMERRE e REMNRE

(f“f)

Bz BRFERFEEXR ﬂaféﬁ%%%ﬁ
128,258,000 T (Z T — A F :
117,731,0007% 75) AR BA K EE -
FEEMBNEHE  RUABEFR
BEBBIFMEM 2 BHEER R
—E2—+tE=A=1+— Hiﬁ‘m@%@
£191,307,0008 . (ZF — A~ F -
318,681,000/ 1) o

REBFEBEXBRELNRE REFT
RBEEFPERUGARRZ 7 AMARER
REPEGORSEGMELNRIFAR
RRXHE—RREE - ARFAHTEER
B MU R BRSO R E KRR DA
RARRDME L EFEE L T e Rt 8
SMEE -

The movements in the impairment loss on trade receivables during MNAEBESEWRZFHERRE  aE@E7
the year, including both specific and collective loss components, AERBEBREXRD ZEBNT
are as follows:

2017 2016
(In HK$'000) (BB FTREN) —E—tF ZT—RF
At 1st April R A—H 72,538 74,377
Provision of impairment loss (net) HEBEREE (FE) 1,896 6,585
Uncollectible amount written off 85 4 A Uk B SR EE = (8,424)
At 31st March R=ZBR=+—8 74,434 72,538

The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables not impaired is
as follows:

H 5 RAM BRI BRE 2 RO
m

2017 2016

(In HK$°000) (BB FTREN) —E—tF ZT—RF

Neither past due nor impaired REE R AR E 616,714 570,286
Past due: SR CEl

Less than 1 month past due BEAE—EA 16,862 8,895

1 to 3 months past due BE-—Z={EA 22,798 32,728

3 months to 1 year past due BEBE=EAZ—F 49,942 6,377

Over 1 year past-due AEEE—F 4,565 2,332

94,167 50,332

710,881 620,618

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RELMAERAF)
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
a large number of diversified customers for whom there was no
recent history of default or covered by collaterals pledged with the
Group.

Receivables that were past due relate to a number of independent
customers and were reviewed by the directors with impairment
losses of approximately HK$74,434,000 made at 31st March, 2017
(2016: HK$72,538,000). Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no further impairment
loss is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
considered fully recoverable.

OTHER ASSETS

19.

20.

ESRHEMERKHKIE - EERANNE
(&

REVE R RRE 2 FE AR R T3 B B 2 )
BN AREERARAEE 2 R REE
BHZRETRES

ERHvERERDZEBLRE K&
EEMERZEERAR _T—LtF=A
=T —B{ELRERELIT74,434,000/4 7T
(ZZ— /"% :72,538,000/87T) ° IRIEH
AR ARAEERR UTHBERZ
ETHEABELDRERE RAREGELE
VTEEXNEL MZRELERDEEATZ
g o

HttEE

(In HK$000) (LB T B2 7) 2017 2016
Hong Kong Securities Clearing BEPREEFR QA

Company Limited

— Guarantee fund deposit - REESTRK 100 100

— Admission fee —-ABEH 100 100
Statutory deposit with the Stock Exchange X FTAER S 200 200
Statutory deposit with the Securities and ErRHEEBEREZES

Futures Commission EERS 2,000 2,000
Reserve fund contribution to the BMRBREEERERARFES

Stock Exchange Options Clearing

House Limited 1,300 1,300
Reserve fund contribution to the HKFE BEMEREERLNE FES

Clearing Corporation Limited 1,500 1,500

5,200 5,200

INVENTORIES 21. B8
(In HK$'000) (UEEFTRBEN) 2017 2016
Precious metal, stated at cost ECBUKAFE 23

2017
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT 22. HEREWE
(In HK$'000) (UEEFTREN) 2017 2016
Properties held for development, at cost: BEREMEUR A E
At 1st April RIOA—H 3,011 183,961
Additions NE - 66,412
Disposal HE - (247,362)
At 31st March R=RA=+—H 3,011 3,011
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 23. RITHEHRERS
(In HK$'000) (UEEFTREN) 2017 2016
Cash at bank RITHE &R
- General accounts -—fKFE0 62,337 49,016
— Trust accounts —fE5F 0 64,963 50,084
- Segregated accounts - DHEERH 1,592 2,060
Cash in hand R&e 5 18
Short-term bank deposits with original RHRTERRIBALR=@EHA
maturity less than 3 months
- pledged (note) —BHEA () 10,000 10,000
- non-pledged — FEIR A 222,979 277,387
361,876 388,565

Note: The amount represents fixed deposits pledged to a bank to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR  24.

it - AREFREER T BRI IEHRER -
ERAGEERE-RRTHEZEAN

]
an °

BRRAFERRBERIIRMBEE

LOSS
(In HK$°000) (BB FrBEN) 2017 2016
Unlisted convertible bonds, at fair value FELTABRKRES  AFE 110,000 =

The Group invested in the convertible bond issued by Higson
Holdings Limited (“Higson”) amounted to HK$110,000,000.

The convertible bonds carried interest at 16.2% p.a. and accrued
monthly on a compound basis and is due on 5th September,
2017. It was guaranteed by the ultimate controlling shareholders
of Higson by deeds of guaranty dated 25th August, 2016 and
charged on land located at Zhong Shan, China that is owned by
a partially owned subsidiary of Higson. The shares of the partially
owned subsidiary of Higson have been pledged to a subsidiary of
the Company.

UPBEST GRO LIM

& [@ #% & 7 mHigson Holdings Limited
(MHigson ])#17{&1E110,000,000/% 7T 2 A]
BRES -

AR EH KIS E ST F16.2%% A
BAEEBAZH UBR=T—LFAN
AT B EH - fHigsonk) & 4R 42 B A% 3 A
RIE-—RNENB - TRAFTNERZ
A= R K LA BiHigsonfT 3% 5 25 9 A 4 2 Bt
BARIE T —SRAL AR E Iz T iR
e ° HigsonFTis B A RIE 2B ARH
BB GHERAAAR ZHBAR -
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25. BORROWINGS ' 25. &R

(In HK$'000) (UEEFTREN) 2017 2016

Borrowings comprise: BB

Bank loans RITER
— interest-bearing —iT R 25,000 =

Other loans HiE R
— interest-bearing —=riE) 3,109 2,689
28,109 2,689

Analysed as: AR I

Secured (note 15) BHEAR (BEE15) 25,000 -
Unsecured AR 3,109 2,689
28,109 2,689

Borrowings are repayable as follows:
Within one year or on demand —FNLIRBA

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to

RTFIFHEEREEBR

28,109

2,689

ARERRZERANE (MEERE O

contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowings are as R)ZEHEMT
follows:
2017 2016
Effective interest rates: ERRA =
Variable-rate borrowings FEBR 1.6% — 2.5% 2.5%
The fair value of the Group’s borrowings is not materially different REBEHR  AREEHR 2 AT EEFE

from the corresponding carrying amounts at the end of the
reporting period.

Included in borrowings are the following amount denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the group to which
they relate:

(In '000) (U FrBEm)

REEYTEEAZR -

{8 0B 15 AR T B DA 2 B

B2 T3 -

2017

2016

United States Dollars ET

2017
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26. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 26. FE{SEEEA LB
(In HK$'000) (L BEETFTREN) 2017 2016
Amounts due to related parties e A A 5008 ¢
— Related companies —BE R A 2,923 2,930
Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and ENEMALTzZREBREERT 25 RE

27.

28.

have no fixed terms of repayment.

EE &R -

AMOUNT DUE TO ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 27. BERKRERRITIRE
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of REREER 2EREETENS -
repayment.
CREDITORS AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 28. BNHERENER
(In HK$'000) (UEMFTBEN) 2017 2016
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary B ® %K B5H REEL S
course of business of dealing in JE5RIA
securities and options:
- Cash clients - BeEP 84,028 42,789
- Hong Kong Securities Clearing —BEBPREERRAA
Company Limited - 4,095
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary HEZXKHEAHRS
course of business of dealing in JE T RIE
futures contracts:
- Clients -&F 4,225 3,962
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary B % %ﬂ‘“zhﬁﬁ%ﬁ@%ﬂﬁ
course of business of provision of e FRIE
securities margin financing:
- Clients B 6,489 9,709
Amounts payable arising from the BEEB RHEECBEE
ordinary course of business of JE T3R8
dealing in precious metal 130 157
Accruals and other payables JENT B A R H fth e A 30 74,380 79,226
Rental and other deposits received HERHEMEWES 4,400 4,155
Rental received in advance BHHES 264 191
173,916 144,284
The settlement term of cash client payables is two days after the ReXFPERNFERTZBMAEGER -
trade date. Other payables are repayable on demand. The age of A BN FBRRBNEE - LR IR

these balances is within 30 days.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RELMAERAF)

RA=THA-
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29. SHARE CAPITAL ' 29. AR
Number of shares Share capital
R EE (&N
2017 2016 2017 2016
’000 '000 HKS$’ 000 HK$'000
TR Tk THET FHET
Ordinary shares of BREEC.01E T2 LB
HK$0.01 each
Authorised: ETE
At the beginning of the year  FH1# 3,000,000 3,000,000 30,000 30,000
Increase in authorised shares & E IR 2 38 A0 7,000,000 = 70,000 =
At the end of the year FREY 10,000,000 3,000,000 100,000 30,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRAR
At the beginning of the year ~ F## 1,341,158 1,341,158 13,412 13,412
Bonus issue B BITAR 1,341,158 - 13,412 -
At the end of the year FRE 2,682,316 1,341,158 26,824 13,412
30. RESERVES 30. 1B
The Group EHE
Share  Contributed Capital ~ Translation Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve profits Total
(In HK$1000) (BB FTAZl) RiYEE EfRH BRGE Bt REET @zt
Balance as at 1st April, 2015 “E-REMA-ALH 317,69 8515 (80) 685 1332062 1650778
Profit for the year ERgEH - - - - 518,309 518,309
Other comprehensive expense AEEERZERY
for the year - - - (2,476) - (2,476)
Total comprehensive incomel(expense) ~ AFE 2B/ (R%) 48
for the year - - - (476 518309 515833
Dissolution of subsidiaries HEARRE - - 80 - - 80
Proposed final dividend RERERS - - - = (40,235) (40,235)

Balance as at 31st March, 2016 and RZE-AEZR=1t-BkK

1st April, 2016 “E-NEMA-RER 317,696 8,515 - (1,791) 1,811,036 2,135,456
Profit for the year EREH - - - - 225,867 225,867
Other comprehensive expense AERERZERX .

for the year - - - (3,282) - (3,282)
Total comprehensive incomef(expense) ~ AFE2ERE/ (HY) £8

for the year - - - (3,282) 225,867 222,585
Bonus issue EETIR (13412) - - - - (13.412)
Proposed final dividend RERERS - - = S (48,282) (48,282)
Balance as at 31st March, 2017 RZE-tE=A=1-R&H 304,284 8,515 = (5073) 1988621 2296347

2017
Annual Report F 42



114

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

a8 B OB | x KM O

For the year ended 31st March 2017 & E _-F—LE=H=+—HIL4FE

30. RESERVES (Continued)
The Company

30. fwfe (&)

ZNNG

Share Contributed Retained
premium surplus profits Total

(In HK$'000) (LB TFTAEN) R RE EHER REBREF @t
Balance as at 1st April, 2015 N—T—RFMNA—HEH 314,371 8,515 5,128 328,014
Profit for the year FRaFl - - 40,534 40,534
Other comprehensive income AEEEMEENKE

for the year - - - -
Total comprehensive income AEEZANEER

for the year - - 40,534 40,534
Proposed final dividend BRRER S - - (40,235) (40,235)
Balance as at 31st March, 2016 R-E—REZA=1+-BK

and 1st April, 2016 - FNA-B&EH 314,371 8,515 5,427 328,313
Profit for the year FRaFl - - 107,732 107,732
Other comprehensive income AEEEMEENE

for the year - - - -
Total comprehensive income AEEZENEER

for the year - - 107,732 107,732
Bonus issue BRITARK (13,412) = = (13,412)
Proposed final dividend BRRBR 2 - = (48,282) (48,282)
Balance as at 31st March, 2017 RZBE—+F=RA=+—H&H 300,959 8,515 64,877 374,351
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OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group leases certain properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for a term for
one year (2016: one year).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had future
minimum lease payments in respect of land and buildings under
non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

(In HK$'000) (L EMTF T BEL)

31.

B LS E I

EERERH

£ FY-0:0N _
AEERREEARTHRAE TN
HEZMEREERB—F(CT—AF:
).

REEHR  AEERETAHE LR
BFEEHETZRARRERNESWT -

2017 2016

Within one year —FR"

The Group as lessor

The Group leases certain properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms
ranging from one to twenty (2016: one to twenty) years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease rental receivables under non-cancellable operating
leases as follows:

976 1,001

SEAHEEA
AEBERBECLEHELHEEETYE -
BEZVEREFHNT—ZE-+F (=%
—NEF:—EZFF)

RBEHR  AEEREIAIHELENE
ETZARRKERKESOT

(In HK$'000) (LB T TREN) 2017 2016
Within one year —ER 22,042 22,710
In the second to fifth years, inclusive REZFEEFRFLZA 22,189 35,604
More than five years BBAF 8,633 12,550

52,864 70,864

2017
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32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 32. HEMBLAF
(In HK$'000) (LB FrREN) 2017 2016
Share of net assets disposed of: EELERFEE
Properties held for development RIEBRRME — 60,031
Other receivable H {th fE U RUIR - 1,596
Bank balances RITEE R - 88
Other payable H {th fE 4 ZUR - (127)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B A Bl FTEE A 2 g - 180,835
- 242,423
Expenses incurred for disposal BEEEERBAHAX - 2,277
Proceeds from disposal & BT {3 38 - 244,700
Satisfied by: TR
Cash B - 244,700
Expenses incurred for disposal FHESERBNAY = (2,277)
- 242,423
Analysis of the net inflow of cash and HNEENBARNRS R
cash equivalents in respect of ReEEBYOFRADN :
the disposal of subsidiaries:
Cash consideration received WEBEERE = 244,700
Bank balances RITHE - (88)
Expenses incurred for disposal BHESERBNMASL = (2,277)
- 242,335

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RELMAERAF)
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33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BMERBEBALIRS
During the year, the Group had the following material transactions RAFE AEBQEERRE A TETN
with its related parties: TZERRS : .
Name of related party Nature of transactions Notes
BHALER REME
(In HK$'000) (BT L BEN) B 5 2017 2016
UBA Investments Investment management fee (a) 2,468 2,727
Limited (“UBA”) REEHE
FRBAKEERAR ([HBKRE]) Performance fee (a) 1,824 =
=AM E
Securities brokerage commission fee (b) 1,147 1,628
BHEEEAE
Handling fee for dividend collection (c) 22 18
BREBKFEE
Margin financing interest (d) 234 357
FREEFNE
Bullion dealing interest (e) - -

BEEBRHIE
Commodities brokerage

commission fee (f) - -
HEKRBEER
Bullion commission (9) - -
EeEMAS
Handling fee for bullion trading (h) - -
BEYBEETEE
Storage fee for bullion (i) 6 6
BEvBHERE
Town Bright Industries Limited Rental expenses () 676 676
FAEEERRAA HeM%
Upbest Properties Company Limited Rental expenses (k) 84 84
XRMERRAF HEMX
Champion Assets Limited Rental expenses (1) 60 60
BEERA A e kX
Loong Cheong Limited Rental expenses (m) 156 156
BEEARAQT HeM%

2017 e
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33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

A subsidiary of the Company, Upbest Assets Management
Limited (“UAML") as investment manager, and UBA
Investments Limited (*“UBA”) had entered into Third
Investment Management Agreement dated 26th January,
2016 (“Third Investment Management Agreement”) and
agreed that the investment management services provided
by UAML to UBA for a period of three years from 1st April,
2016 to 31st March, 2019. This agreement can be terminated
by either UAML or UBA serving not less than six months’
notice in writing prior to the expiration. Pursuant to the Third
Investment Management Agreement, monthly investment
management fee is receivable at 1.50% per annum of the
consolidated net asset value of UBA as at the immediately
preceding valuation date on the actual number of days in the
relevant calendar month over 365 days a year.

In addition to the above investment management fee, a
performance fee payable in Hong Kong dollars equivalent to
20% of net profit of UBA before taxation and before deduction
of the management fee payable under the investment
management agreements shall be paid to UAML for each
financial year.

The annual cap for the investment management fee and
performance fee for each of the financial years ending
31st March, 2017, 2018 and 2019 are HK$10,100,000,
HK$11,600,000 and HK$13,300,000 respectively. These
continuing connected transactions were approved at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
30th March, 2016. The performance fee approximated
HK$1,824,000 (2016: NIL) due from UBA was included in
trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments as at
31st March, 2017.

On 26th January, 2016, Upbest Securities Company Limited
("USCL”) and UBA and two of its subsidiaries had separately
entered into Securities Brokerage Supplemental Agreements
for the transaction in relation to the securities brokerage
service and agreed that the original agreements were further
extended for a period of three years to 31st March, 2019.
Brokerage commission fee income is charged at 0.25%
(2016: 0.25%), the prevailing market rate, on the value of the
transactions.
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33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(Continued)

It is expected that the annual brokerage commission will be
less than HK$3,000,000 per annum and that transactions
contemplated under the Securities Brokerage Supplemental
Agreements are considered to be a deminims transaction for
USCL pursuant to Rule 14A of the Listing Rule.

Handling fee for dividend collection is charged at minimum of
HK$30 or 0.50% per transaction amount.

Upbest Investment Company Limited (“UICL") with UBA and
two of its subsidiaries had separately entered into Financial
Assistance Supplemental Agreements in relation to the
provision of securities margin financing service. According to
the Fourth Supplemental Agreements, the respective relevant
original agreements were further extended for a period of
three years to 31st March, 2019. The agreement is subject
to renewal by written supplemental agreements between the
contracting parties. The securities margin financing services
interest rate is charged at 4.25% (2016: 4.25%) above prime
rate per annum inclusive of custodian fee; and the provision
of IPO financing at an interest rate from 0.20% to 1.50%
(2016: 0.20% to 1.50%) per annum above the borrowing costs
of UICL. Interest income for the securities margin accounts
was charged at 9.50% (2016: 9.50%) per annum.

A subsidiary of the Company, Upbest Gold and Silver Trading
Limited ("UGS”) entered into a Precious Metal Financial
Assistance Agreement with UBA Gold Investment Limited
(“UBA Gold”) in relation to the provision of precious metal
margin financing service for a period of three years from 1st
April, 2016 to 31st March, 2019 by UGS to UBA Gold. The
agreement is subject to renewal by written supplemental
agreement between the contracting parties.

The interest rate for the precious metal financing service
was from 0.25% to 0.50% (2016: 0.25% to 1.00%) per annum
above the borrowing costs of UGS for call position. In respect
of put position, the interest rate would be 0.25% to 0.50%
(2016: 0.25% to 1.00%) per annum on top of the borrowing
cost of UGS (if any) provided that if UGS would receive
any interest from its supplier(s), UBA Gold may set off such
financing fee against the interest received by UGS from its
supplier(s). For avoidance of doubt, any remaining interest
received by UGS from its supplier(s) after such set-offs in
respect of such put position will be paid to UBA Gold.
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(e)

(&)
RHREFRERERR

PREEF

3,000,000/ 7T MAR{E LM 4 Al &
14AE  HEEBBHFME @ RIEES
REBrABEMBETZRIWAA
HAREREKFEHRS -

BEBRTFEENKERERI0ET

UBERH L 20.50% °

ZEREBEEROB([ERRE]) B
AIREREMENRBRR D BIE
ERBRSTRBERSNMBHEE
ZHE - BEENOETRZE &R
BHEBACERR="FE_F—N
FZA=T—H -BREATUEE
BRBZEENLHE - EHFTRRE
RBEEMNEKBAZEBERNEX ¥
425% (ZZF—RE:4.25%)  EFE
EHAEE MABXRARBRMER
HEBMEAERILE ZEERAMN
FFR0.20%E1.50% (ZF—~F :
0.20%%E1.50%) - BHTRBEL D
ZRIRBERNEI50% (=B —7NE

9.50%) °

ARRZHBRR  XESIEESH
BRAB ([EE£E]) HUBA Gold
Investment Limited ([UBA Gold]) &t

mEZEEREM TUBA Go

dZEE B

FRBERGRI T —HESBNB
EtE BB RHM=F h=
Z-XNFOA-BE-_ZE-NF=A
=t—H-EXANEEMBABHL

B -

EeBHFRREREERBKBEESD
ZHEEEZSRZEERA L
FEREK0.25%E0.50% (ZF—NF ¢

0.25%Z1.00%) c BRAHAE L Z -

FNERAEERSBZEEMAFIR EF
FERNEO.25%E0.50% (ZF— < F -

0.25%%1.00%) (1) 1
BB EE AT E - BlU

GES=eai
BA Gold#t

NZFBBMAMZE N < BEER
Hif- RERE ENXESRAHE
& 7 U BB ) B A2 AR VR B KO PR
WERE A B B HR BB R
Gold °

f FUBA

119




120

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B 8| R W &

For the year ended 31st March 2017 & ZE =%

33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(e)

()

(9)

(h)

(i)

1)

(k)

(Continued)

For the year ended 31st March, 2017, interest for precious
metal dealing was charged at the range of 0.00% to 3.00%
(2016:
charged for the year.

1.50% to 2.30%) per annum. No interest has been

The annual cap regarding the securities and precious metal
margin financial assistance for each of the financial years
ending 31st March, 2017, 2018 and 2019 is HK$60,000,000.
These continuing connected transactions were approved at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
30th March, 2016.

Commodities brokerage commission is charged at a range
from HK$20 to HK$100 (2016: HK$20 to HK$100) per
transaction.

Precious metal commission is charged at a range from US$10
to US$250 (2016: US$10 to US$250) per transaction.

Handling fee for precious metal trading is charged at 0.25%
(2016: 0.25%) per transaction amount.

Storage fee for precious metal trading is charged at US$2
(2016: US$2) per day.

Two subsidiaries of the Company have respectively entered
into tenancy agreements with Town Bright Industries Limited
for one year, commencing from 1st April, 2015. The tenancy
agreements were renewed to 31st March, 2017 on 1st April,
2016. The tenancy agreements were further renewed for
twelve months, commencing from 1st April, 2017. (note)

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy
agreement with Upbest Properties Company Limited for
2015. The tenancy
agreement has renewed to 31st March, 2017 on 1st April,

one year, commencing from 1st April,

2016. The tenancy agreement was further renewed for twelve
months, commencing from 1st April, 2017. (note)

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
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33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

U]

(m)

(n)

(o)

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy
agreement with Champion Assets Limited for one year,
commencing from 1st April, 2015. The tenancy agreement
has renewed to 31st March, 2017 on 1st April, 2016. The
tenancy agreement was further renewed for twelve months,
commencing from 1st April, 2017. (note)

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy
agreement with Loong Cheong Limited for one year,
commencing from 1st April, 2015. The tenancy agreement
has renewed to 31st March, 2017 on 1st April, 2016. The
tenancy agreement was further renewed for twelve months,
commencing from 1st April, 2017. (note)

Note:

As at the latest practicable date, CCAA Group Limited
(“CCAA”) holds approximately 74.29% interest in Upbest
Group Limited (“Upbest”). Fung Fai Growth Limited (“Fung
Fai”) holds approximately 32.08% of UBA. The ultimate
beneficial owner of CCAA and Fung Fai is Cheng’s Family
Trust. Interested beneficiaries of the Cheng’s Family Trust
include Mr. CHENG Kai Ming, Charles, Ms. CHENG Wai
Ling, Annie (“Ms. Cheng”) and Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
(“Mr. Cheng”). Ms. Cheng and Mr. Cheng are directors of
Upbest. Mr. Cheng is also a director of UBA. Moreover,
UAML, the investment manager of UBA, is regarded as a
connected person of UBA under Rule 14A.08 of the Listing
Rules.

Mr. CHENG Kai Ming, Charles, the father of Ms. Cheng and
Mr. Cheng, has beneficial interests in Town Bright Industries
Limited, Upbest Properties Company Limited, Champion
Assets Limited and Loong Cheong Limited.

Details of the balances with related parties and ultimate
holding company are fully disclosed in notes 26 and 27.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year are disclosed in note 10.

The above transactions were carried out in the normal course
of the Group’s business on terms mutually agreed between the
parties.
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34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 34. IAREE

(In HK$'000) (KB TFTREN) 2017 2016
Guarantees given by the company and ZIK RENBARABY

its subsidiaries to financial institutions T4 T B B R

in respect of facilities granted to L/{HX =8

independent third parties 4,000 4,000
Guarantees given by the Company to KRB REMB ARG THH%

financial institutions in respect of BEERIRBEER

facilities granted to subsidiaries 172,000 172,000
At the end of the reporting period, the directors do not consider it RBEMRA  EETRAEAEERER
probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any of EEEREX

the guarantees.

Of the above guarantees, the amount utilized by the subsidiaries FiiER  BER=E—+EFE=A=+—H

at 31st March, 2017 is approximately HK$26 million (2016: 2 %8 [E #4926,000,000/8 T (ZE — /N & -

approximately HK$1 million). #71,000,000& 7T) °

The Company has not recognised any deferred income in respect EEE’éjﬂ;%%ﬁz’A:Fﬁ%ﬁﬁ/{ﬁ@f'fiﬁlﬁﬁ&

of these guarantees as its fair value cannot be reliably measured ZRGBEAEBT(ZE—XRF :TH

and its transaction price was HK$Nil (2016: HK$Nil). 7)) R AR RN R E A EREREM
BIEWA -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 35. AN BB A AROR R

(In HK$'000) (BB FrREl) 2017 2016
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NGIEPNGIP 449,648 382,134
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments B RIE 2 4
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRERE 129 179
. 83
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accrued expenses ERNER .........%2 357
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFE (191) (174)
NET ASSETS EEFE 449,457 381,960
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARR#E
Share capital SN 26,824 13,412
Reserves (note 30) & (FTE30) 374,351 328,313
Proposed dividend BORR S 48,282 40,235
449,457 381,960
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved ARRNBMBEMAREREEEN -2 —+
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23rd June, FRAZT=A#ERBEEZELREA T

2017. EERREE -

CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew CHENG Wai Ling, Annie

2w HER
Executive Director Executive Director

HiTEE HITER
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36. SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2017 are as

follows:

For the year ended 31st March 2017 & E _-F—LE=H=+—HIL4FE

36. MiELA
RZE—+F=A=+—H ' KR F#FE
ATHBRA :

Percentage of

Principal interest Issued and fully

Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary

Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital

BRTRAR

MERR LR Efped  EEERHE  KEKRAEIMW TEXEK EERERA

Upbest Financial Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1

ABARARS B RERR [EY

Upbest Land Company Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1

ABARARS B REHER [EYH

Citybest Management Limited British Virgin Islands Macau 100% Investment holding US$1

ABARARS 2P REHER [EY

Companhia De Desenvolvimento E Macau Macau 100%  Property investment MOP25,000

Fomento Predial Si Wan Limitada

HEEXERARLA 2 & NERE 25,0002 7

Energy Mark Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Inactive HK$1

RRARAT &b B TREED 1AL

Gold-Face Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Money lending HK$28,000,004

HRBBARRA] & &8 ERBE  28,000,004% T

Good Foundation Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Investment holding HK$10,000

REARAT i A REER 10,0008 7

Good Profit Development Limited Samoa Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1

BHERERRAA BED BB REER 17

Great Luck Consultants Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Inactive US$50,000

REERARLA ARERBRS R IREED 50,000% 7T

King Standard International British Virgin Macau 100% Property US$1
Limited Islands holding

RBARERS R AR (E

Marco Tech Limited British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Investment US$2
Islands holding

RBARBES BB REER e
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36. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) : 36.. B 7R (&)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2017 are as Tt S SR = S ﬁﬁﬁjﬁ?ﬁ_
follows: (Continued) ATHBRR : (&)

Percentage of

Principal interest Issued and fully
Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital
EELNE 3
WELREH Efpey  EEEEHE  EEKRAESIW TEXEK ZERRE
Mei Tou Real Estate Company Limited Macau Macau 100%  Property investment MOP25,000
XEEXARAA 2 & NERE 25,0008 1T
Mei Wo Company Limited Macau Macau 100%  Property investment MOP25,000
ZNBRAF R R NERE 25,0002 T
Perfect Result Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1
REREBRAF RBARBEE B REHER (EYH
Profit Up Development Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 70%  Project and property HK$10
management
BRERARLA BB &b BERNEER 1087
Upbest Assets Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100%  Assets management HK$600,000
FREEFRAT i &b EEER 600,000/ 7
Upbest Bullion Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Precious HK$11,000,000
metal dealing
XEEFBRAR &k &t E2EEE  11,000,000% T
Upbest Commodities Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Futures dealing HK$10,000,000
Limited
XRHEARAH i 3 BEEE 10,000,008
Upbest Credit and Mortgage Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Inactive HK$2
REEERERERAT i &b ERELED 2B
Upbest Cyber Trade Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Inactive HK$2
Limited
FRETHERRATA i &b IREED 28T
Upbest Hong Kong Land British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1
Company Limited

ARERBES &E RERK 1%X0
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For the year ended 31st March 2017 & E _-F—LE=H=+—HIL4FE

36. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36. MIBAR (&)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2017 are as R-ZFB—+tFZA=1+—H : AAFAHAE
follows: (Continued) AT BAR : (&)

Percentage of

Principal interest Issued and fully

Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary

Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital

BRTRAR

MERR LR dfped  TEERHE  KEKRAEIMW TEXEK EEREA

Upbest Investment Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Securities HK$35,000,000
margin financing

XEREARAT &k &k ERFERE 3500000087

Upbest Macau Land Company British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1

Limited

XERMEXARAA ABARRES & REEK 1%

Upbest Online Securities Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Inactive HK$5,000,000

XRELESERATA &k &b ERELD 5,000,000% 7

Upbest Strategic Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Investment HK$5,002
Limited holding

RERBERAA Bk B REHER 5,002

Upbest Securities Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Securities dealing HK$10,000,000
and broking

RREFARAA R Bk EFRHRER  10,000,000E T

Peals International Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1

UHERERAR ABARBES &b RERR (EH

Maiyon Investment Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Inactive HK$35,000

ERERRAA & &b TREED 35,000/ 7T

Peace Gain Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 55% Investment holding US$100

ABARBES &b RERR 100% 7T

Christian Faith Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 55%  Property investment HK$1

R A NERE 1AL
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36. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) : 36.. B AR (&
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2017 are as RZE—+F=H=+—8" ﬁ’&ﬂﬁ?ﬁ_
follows: (Continued) ATHBRR : (&)

Percentage of

Principal interest Issued and fully

Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary

Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital

BRETRAR

WEAEAH MR  TEEEHE  SERRESN TEXH LERRA

Bible Workshop Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 55% Inactive HK$1

Bk i EREEY 18T

Upbest Gold & Silver Trading Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Precious HK$10,000

metal dealing

ZRERESERATA i & E¢BEE 10,0007

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital outstanding at the RBERRBXFEERNEMER - FTEH
end of the reporting period or at any time during the year. BRRVERBFEZEAMER -
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128 SCHEDULE OF PROPERTIES

o KM R
(1) INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS AT 31ST MARCH, 2017 1) RZE—+tE=ZB=1T—-HzREYE
Approximate Percentage of the
Description Usage gross floor area Status  Group’s interest
REBFE
W BE BHREAER R BREDL
(square feet)
(¥ER) %
(@ Macau Commercial 105,000 Rental 100
! Bl ki
51 Various car parking spaces and
the whole of the ground floor and
1st Floor of Chino Plaza, located
in Baia Sul Do Bairro Fai Chi Kei,
Lote PS2 Macau
PRI F E B EPS2H B 2
ENES  BES1EEN -
WER—E2E
(b)  Macau Residential/ 11,492 Rental 100
B commercial funfié|
€/ HH
1 piece of land at
Nossa Senhora Do Camo,
Taipa, Macau with
a two-story restaurant
RN EMAA T RREER
2 —iEtiE
BE-EMERREEBEZEEY
(2) PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AS AT 31ST (2 R=ZE—tE=ZR=1T—-HzZEEZE
MARCH, 2017 /S
Stage of
Percentage development
of the Estimated as at
Approximate Group’s  completion  31st March,
Description Usage site area interest date 2017
x&EE R-ZE—-+%F
BREE Pt s Bi =A=t-H
WML fiches HAHE BAt TRAHE  ZERER
(square feet)
(FAR) %
(@) Hong Kong Government, 9,147 55 N/A Vacant land
EB Institution or TER TELIH
Community
2 pieces of land at BT - gt
Tseung Kwan O
Declaimation

District Number 248
MIRALA B S B ER248[R F 11




UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(RXRELHEAFRLA)

2nd Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre
300 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

Tel: 852 2545 3298

Website: www.upbest.com

EREHETI005%
ERFEDL 2

EFE: 852 2545 3298
4k www.upbest.com
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